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Summary

Silverton Park Stables is all that remains of a much grander project for this site.
Once, to the southeast below the driveway to the stable block, there stood a
grand nineteenth-century mansion that was never finished, known as Silverton
Park. It was designed by architect James Thomas Knowles (senior, 1806-84) for
George Francis Wyndham, the 4™ Earl of Egremont (1785-1845) and there is far
more to the story than this surviving monumental brick pile would suggest.

Wyndham'’s uncle was the 3™ Earl of Egremont, an unconventional man who
avoided the traditional arranged marriage. Instead, he cohabited happily for many
years at the family seat of Petworth House in Sussex with the daughter of a
clergyman, Elizabeth lliffe, known to all as ‘Mrs Wyndham.’ The children born out
of their union were, strictly speaking, illegitimate, and so unable to inherit the
title. The Earl’s nephew George Wyndham, meanwhile, had been following the
career path of many a younger son. In 1799, aged 13, he enlisted as a
midshipman in Nelson’s navy, and saw action under Jane Austen’s brother,
Captain Francis Austen, aboard HMS Canopus in the Battle of Santa Domingo in
1805. Wyndham rose rather slowly through the ranks to Captain, and retired
from the navy in 1825, to live in Reigate, Surrey.

Here he met a young builder and aspiring architect, J.T. Knowles. Knowles was a
great advocate for patented metallic cement, for its durability, economy and
versatility. In these middle decades of the century when the so-called Battle of
the Styles raged in architectural circles, the pragmatic Knowles had scant regard
for those who advocated honesty of materials and the pre-eminence of
craftsmanship. Instead, he wanted architectural decoration to be available to all
and saw in the metallic cement the means to build cheaply and effectively in any
locale. Such metallic cements were popular at the time, the ‘metallic’ element
being supplied in this case by the use of ground-up copper slag as aggregate,
mixed with lime to provide a very hard hydraulic mix.

Through the 1830s, Knowles gained confidence as an architect for the middling
station. In late 1836, the old Earl died and Captain Wyndham, as heir-in-law,
became 4™ Earl of Egremont. The 4" Earl did not inherit the family seat at
Petworth, which went to the 3™ Earl’s eldest natural son, nor did he inherit much
of the vast wealth of this ancient family. Nevertheless, he embarked at once on a
string of ambitious building projects, on which he retained Knowles as architect.
First, Knowles adapted Wyndham’s Surrey home, Bramley House, but the Earl
had also inherited 14,000 acres in Devon and Somerset and his focus of attention
soon moved to the West Country. A large ltalianate villa was built as the rectory
in the village of Blackborough, where the 4™ Earl lived initially. Plans were drawn
up for a palatial seat to be called Egremont Castle at Blackborough, impracticably
placed on a waterless plateau. Soon, however, the Earl settled on the site at
Silverton, choosing to erect his ambitious pile around an earlier house called
Combesatchfield and diverting the road for greater privacy.
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From 1838, Silverton Park mansion began to spring up. It was an extravagant
prodigy of endless classical columns and rooms. It was built of brick, but the
exterior was faced and embellished with the patented metallic cement, in
imitation of stone. Italian craftsmen were brought in to fashion an ‘interminable
line of ornament’ showing the Exodus of the Israelites into Egypt. A later sale
catalogue speaks of sixty rooms, but the total is likely to have been far higher,
crammed with paintings and antique statues. The childless Earl and Countess
must have rattled around inside. Meanwhile, the Earl was borrowing madly from
his richer relatives and squeezing his tenants hard for higher rents to fund his
grandiose ambitions. He began a quadrangular stable block and coach house to
match the grandeur of the mansion, built on a rise in the land. The building
accounts do not identify any work on the stables after 1840, and neither mansion
nor stable would ever be finished, for the Earl died suddenly in 1845, leaving
debts that it would take his descendants another 130 years to clear. His widow
lived on until 1876, spending a few months each year at Silverton Park. After her
death, the mansion was on the market for many years but the eccentricity of its
size and outmoded attempt at Classical design mean there were no purchasers. In
1892, the contents were sold and later the house was sold to breakers, who
dynamited it for building materials in 1902.

Only the unfinished stable block remained, an increasingly dilapidated brick hulk
that passed into agricultural use. In 1987, it came onto the market again with
planning permission to be turned into flats. To prevent this, it was acquired by
the Landmark Trust’s founder, Sir John Smith. Sir John retired from Landmark in
1990, and for many years Landmark pondered how to restore the stable block.
Its sheer scale made both its conversion and funding a challenge. Finally, in
2004, a private donor of particular loyalty and percipience gave a sizeable
donation to enable work to begin. Other private and trust donors were then also
moved to contribute and, twenty-one years after acquisition, the project was
finally completed in June 2008.
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The restoration of Silverton Park Stables

The restoration was accomplished in a gradual way by local subcontractors under
the guidance of Landmark’s direct labour force. The entire building was re-roofed,
missing parapets reinstated and the porticos tied back in to prevent structural
movement. Later agricultural buildings were removed and all the brickwork re-
pointed and reconsolidated. New window frames and joinery were made
reproducing the original forms, where these could not be saved. Internally,
accommodation for fourteen was created, respecting the original layout as far as
possible.

The main carriage entrance to the quadrangle is through the east elevation,
through massive wooden doors. These are new, but are hung on the original
pintels and are painted a colour that matches the original estate green, found on a
fragment of the original doors discovered beneath a flagstone.

Along the left of the courtyard as you enter is the south range, where the only
significant changes to the original floorplan were made during the conversion to
Landmark accommodation. This was the Earl’s carriage house, where his
carriages were maintained and stored. It is ‘double pile,” having an inner and
outer set of parallel rooms. The outer spaces have become the large sitting room
and adjoining open plan kitchen. Originally, the spaces on the courtyard side of
this range of this double pile range would have been where the carriages were
washed down and maintained. They would then have been wheeled through
massive sliding doors into two display rooms beyond, where they would have
been stored, on wooden floors to protect their iron-rimmed wheels from rust. To
allow for a large sunny sitting room, we took down a central wall that originally
divided the space into two carriage ‘garages.’ This also allowed us to open up the
central window in the south wall, previously blind because the wall ran through
it. We built a wall along the line of the openings into the maintenance rooms on
the courtyard side, which would originally have been closed off by the sliding
doors mentioned in the building accounts. The line of these openings can be
clearly read in what has become the table tennis room on the courtyard side. A
flue was built into this new wall to allow the woodstove to be introduced.

To provide access to the sitting room, and also because we felt the kitchen to
serve this large sitting and dining room deserved to be open plan, we created a
new opening into the room at the east end of this elevation. Set above this
opening are two large fragments of the original frieze to the mansion, showing a
classicised treatment of the Exodus of the Israelites into Egypt. The original
wooden floor for the Earl’s carriage house had rotted badly and had to be
replaced. Salvaged pitch pine baulk timbers from the London docks were used for
this new floor, which used to prevent ships bumping against the quayside.
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In the rest of the building, the original floorplan has been more closely respected.
In the southwest corner, a former tack room with replacement matchboarded
panelling has become a triple bedroom, complete with reproductions of original
cast iron tack pegs. An ensuite bathroom has been created in the ancillary tack
room that leads off it. Other ironwork has also been carefully reproduced - the
recessed ring-and-pushbutton door latches (designed to prevent horses snagging
themselves as they passed) and other door furniture.

The building seems to have provided an unusual amount of domestic and sleeping
accommodation originally, with two ‘houses’, effectively, incorporated in the
southeast and northwest corners of the block and numerous bedrooms at first
floor level, all with their own fireplace. This configuration has enabled us to
provide plenty of bedrooms and indeed bathrooms (including ground floor
combinations for those of limited mobility) while respecting the original
configuration.

The north range, where most of the stabling was, has been left largely as it was
found. Surprisingly few horses seem to have been stabled here. While later
agricultural use for cattle led to changes in these areas, it seems that a team of
four was kept in the stable to the north of the main entrance on the east
elevation, then a run of three triple stalls in the north range itself, flanked by
small high ceilinged spaces of uncertain function. Stabling three horses together
is unusual, unless the Earl favoured a troika, which harnessed three horses
abreast. The marks of the former hayracks and stall partitions can still be read in
these areas, and also niches for lamps beside the doors into the courtyard. The
windows were always blind on both inner and outer elevations, since low-level
glazing was not safe in case a horse were to kick it out and injure itself. The
north elevation would originally have had a projecting portico to match that on
the south elevation but this was removed during the agricultural phase.

The stable yard would originally have been covered with straw that was changed
regularly. It was always cobbled but when Landmark took the building on, the
surface had become very uneven and thresholds were left exposed. Where
necessary, the surface has been carefully lifted, levelled and re-laid. The exact
purpose of the central pit is unsure: it may have been part of the drainage system
for liquid waste; it may have been a turntable for carriages, or it may have been a
simple pond. The well for the stables was in the northwest corner of the
courtyard. Considerable landscaping was done to correct the external ground
levels around the building.

Today, the stable block is all that is left to remind us of the ambitious plans of
the 4" Earl of Egremont and his architect, J. T. Knowles. Yet it deserves its place
in history and the Devon countryside, now safeguarded both through the
generosity of Landmark’s donors and those who choose to stay here in future.
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SIMPLIFIED FAMILY TREE
OF THE EARLS OF EGREMONT, 2"° CREATION, 1749-1845

Charles Seymour, 6" Duke of Northumberland
‘The Proud Duke’
(1 66f-1 748)

Algernon, 7" Duke of Somerset
(1684-1750)

cr. 1° Earl of Northumberland &

1* Earl of Egremont, 1749

Lady Katherine Seymour m.
Sir William Wyndham, bt.

Charles Wyndham,
(1710-63)
2" Earl of Egremont

George O’Brien Wyndham,
(1751-1836)
3" Earl of Egremont

George Wyndham
(1789-1869)
cr. 1° Lord Leconfield, 1859
and inheritor of Petworth House

Hon. William Wyndham,
m. Frances Mary Harford

George Francis Wyndham, RN
(1785-1845)
4™ Earl of Egremont
and builder of Silverton Park

10
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The Story of Silverton Park, the Earl and the Architect

The stable block at Silverton Park is all that remains of an early Victorian estate
that aimed to be compared with the grandest in the land. From 1837 until his
relatively early death in 1845 aged 52, George Francis Wyndham, 4" Earl of
Egremont, and his architect James Thomas Knowles set out to build a prodigious
house on a remodelled estate. The house was to have been served by a stable
block to match its grandiose size — was to have been, since neither house nor
stables were complete when the 4™ Earl died, heavily encumbered with debt. In
1897, a sale of its contents was held and in 1901, the house itself was
dynamited, being judged too tough to dismantle by hand. Only the monumental
stable block was left as a memorial to the past activity on the site, an unexpected

and strangely romantic presence in the rolling Devon countryside.

The Earls of Egremont and the Wyndhams of Orchard Wyndham

The story of the stable block at Silverton Park begins with the Earls of Egremont,
and specifically with the rather unusual domestic arrangements of the 3™ Earl. To
understand the ambitions and aspirations of the eventual 4™ Earl, builder of

Silverton Park, however, it is necessary to go back further into the dynasty.

Both the 2™ and 3™ Earls were great collectors and connoisseurs. The Wyndham
family entered the ancient Seymour and Percy line through marriage in 1708 and
acquired the newly resurrected earldom of Egremont in 1749. They were of
ancient Somerset stock and had given their name to a village in the county called
Orchard Wyndham. There had been Wyndhams at Orchard Wyndham since at
least the mid-seventeenth century, when the first baronetcy was created. As for
the original Egremont title, this was an ancient earldom which dated back to
1449 to the Cumbrian Egremonts, but which became extinct in the sixteenth
century. It was revived in 1749 for 7" Duke of Somerset. His father, the 6™
Duke, was known as the Proud Duke, a quality he exercised to the point of
eccentricity in his multiple careers of courtier, politician, builder and collector. The

form of Petworth House owes much to the Proud Duke’s remodelling through the

11
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1690s of an earlier house. The architect is not known, but the design seems
influenced by the palaces of Louis X1V, the Sun King, and is suggestive of the
Proud Duke’s own absolutist leanings. The main, state rooms are laid out in
enfilade along the west front and even today, give the impression of having been
conceived in part as a means to display the Proud Duke’s collection of paintings

and statuary.

Petworth House (west elevation), today owned by the National Trust.

The Proud Duke died in 1748 and his son, 1° Earl of Egremont, outlived him by
only two years, dying in 1750. The Egremont title then passed to his nephew, Sir
Charles Wyndham, 4" Baronet of Orchard Wyndham, who became the 2™ Earl of
Egremont. The 2™ Earl became a great politician through the middle decades of
the eighteenth century, having aligned himself with the Whigs, and he too
collected obsessively. Horace Walpole placed him among those ‘who care not
what they give’ and whose ‘glaring extravagance is the constant high price given
for pictures.” The 2™ Earl created a sculpture gallery at Petworth, based on the

one at Holkham Hall in Norfolk owned by his friend and mentor, Thomas Coke, 1*
12



Silverton Park Stables History Album

Earl of Leicester, and executed by the same architect, Matthew Brettingham.
Holkham is the key to much of the activity at Petworth under the 2™ Earl. While
the Petworth stables do not resemble the quadrangle ones at Holkham, by
extension and at one stage removed, the famous quadrangular stables at

Holkham could have been one influence on the 4™ Earl’s aspirations for Silverton.

George O’Brien Wyndham, the 3™ Earl, was only twelve when he inherited his
title in 1763. He managed to avoid the arranged marriages typical for a man of
his station. Instead, he cohabited for years with a clergyman’s daughter, Elizabeth
lliffe, with whom he had seven children and who was known as ‘Mrs Wyndham.’
The Earl was immensely rich and generous in proportion. In his time, the family
seat, Petworth House in Sussex, was kept as an open house for artists and
friends, ‘provided they did not interfere with his habits,” perhaps a reference to
his mistresses, for it was said that forty three of his children, with their mothers,
also lived at Petworth. J M W Turner too lived in Petworth House for a time, and
it formed the hub of a wide social and artistic coterie, for the 3™ Earl too was

known as a great patron of the arts.

However, the Earl’s offspring were illegitimate, and therefore could not inherit his
title, although could inherit his wealth. In 1801, he made an honest woman and
countess of ‘Mrs Wyndham’ by marrying her, although this did not change the

legal status of their children born earlier.

13
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George O’Brien Wyndham, 3™ Earl of Egremont.

A son born after their marriage died in infancy, and it seems married life did not
suit the couple, since they separated (though did not divorce) in 1804. The
guestion of inheritance of the title was thus left unsatisfactorily at large —
unsatisfactorily, that is, to all except the Earl’s nearest legitimate heir and
nephew, the Hon. Captain George Francis Wyndham. The 3™Earl’s mantle, and
indeed that of his great uncle the 2" Earl, were large ones for Captain Wyndham
to live up to. On being elevated from naval captain to earl, Wyndham must have
felt the weight of history descending on his shoulders and there is near
contemporary anecdotal evidence that Silverton Park was built in part to rival

Petworth House. The entrance door for tourists at Petworth today bears a label
14
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pointing out that it has been an entrance for tourists since 1743. Given the
hospitable nature of the 3" Earl’s tenure, there can be little doubt that Captain
Wyndham would have visited Petworth House, and it may even be that J T
Knowles also made a reconnoitre there, given the nature of his commission and
client. The long colonnades at Silverton Park, at first thought creating gloomy and
unappealing interiors, make more sense as shielding direct light from galleries
holding a collection that aspired to rival that of the two of the greatest collectors

of recent decades.

The Early Career of George Francis Wyndham

George Francis Wyndham, eventual builder of Silverton Park, was the son of the
3" Earl’s youngest brother, the Hon. William Wyndham, a soldier who left the
Coldstream Guards in 1784 to marry Frances Mary Harford, a natural daughter of
the last Lord Baltimore, who already had an annulled marriage behind her. Their
son George Francis was born in August 1785. This rather racey couple seem to
have spent much of their time abroad, and Frances soon took up with another
lord — not a very settled background for the little boy. He had two sisters, and a

brother who predeceased him.

In 1799, in the midst of the Napoleonic War, Wyndham followed the career of
many a youth of similar circumstances and was enlisted, aged only 13, as a
midshipman in Nelson’s navy. A midshipman was the lowest commissioned
officer and the traditional rank for young gentlemen to enter the navy. From
Wyndham'’s obituary in the Gentleman’s Magazine 2™ April, 1845, we learn that
seven years later, he was a still a midshipman. He was now serving on HMS
Canopus, aboard which he took part in Vice Admiral Duckworth’s action off
Santa Domingo, under the captaincy of Francis Austen — who was none other
than Jane Austen’s brother, described by Nelson as ‘an excellent young man.’
Wyndham’s own naval career made a lasting impression on him and indeed
seems to have affected his architectural pretensions, so is worth lingering briefly

upon it, if only to capture something of his early life.

15
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The Canopus was an 80 gun, former French Admiral’s ship that Nelson had
captured at the Battle of the Nile in 1798. The Battle of Santa Domingo took
place in 1805 shortly after the Battle of Trafalgar and is often overshadowed by
this more famous victory. Napoleon had crowned himself Emperor of France in
December 1804, and prepared to invade England. William Pitt, meanwhile, had
concluded the Third Coalition with Russia and Austria and Sweden. Napoleon
realized that his enemies were gathering against him and concluded that his
invasion of Britain must take place in 1805 if it were to take place at all. He
began to hatch elaborate plans by which the British fleet might be tricked and
lured away from its position guarding the British Isles. Napoleon's plan was for
two of his squadrons to escape the British blockades and sail for the West Indies;
the British, fearful of French disruption of their lucrative trade in the sugar islands,
would naturally follow. When the French ships reached Martinique, they would
rendezvous and promptly sail back to the Channel, which would have been left

undefended.

Nelson took 10 sail-of-the-line, including the Canopus, and chased the French
squadron across the Atlantic, only to find when they arrived in the West Indies
that the French ships had turned around and sailed back to France. Disheartened
by his failure to stop the French squadron, Nelson took a short shore leave upon
his return to England, but soon was ordered back to his command. When the
British fleet reached Cadiz on 28 September 1805, Nelson found it was short of
supplies, and so dispatched Canopus to Gibraltar for water and stores, assuring
its command that there was plenty of time to go to Gibraltar and return before
the combined fleet took action against the French. In the event, the Battle of
Trafalgar took place less than a month later, and so the Canopus missed the

famous victory.

The decimation of his fleet meant that Napoleon had to abandon his plan of
invading England for the time being, and so he decided to try to disrupt British
trade in the West Indies in earnest, trade that helped finance the British war

effort. Two French squadrons broke out of the blockade at Brest and sailed for

16
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the West Indies. Vice-Admiral Sir John Duckworth, keen for action after missing
Trafalgar and by then in charge of the blockade of Cadiz, was despatched with
the Canopus and five other ships for Madeira. He finally caught up with one of
the French squadrons off Santa Domingo in the West Indies. Here the five French

ships were all captured or driven on shore, only the smaller vessels escaping.

Captain Austen’s official description of the action is reported in his log: 'Five
minutes before seven. Enemy's ships are of the line." At a quarter past ten, he
noted, 'the Superb commenced to fire on the enemy's van'. By half past ten, the
Canopus joined the action; 'opened our fire on the first ship in the enemy's
line...with one broadside brought her masts by the board...ten minutes to eleven,
the dismasted ship struck...Engaged with the three-decker...ten minutes to

twelve, gave her a raking broadside which brought down her mizzen mast...'

Captain Austen’s letter to his fiancée Mary Gibson was a little more descriptive:
the first broadside from the Canopus 'brought our opponent's three masts down
at once, and towards the close of the business we also had the satisfaction of

giving the three-decker a tickling which knocked all his sticks away.'

17
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The Battle of St Domingo HMS Canopus Joining the Action (T L Holbrook).

Duckworth’s Action off San Domingo, 6™ Feb 1806 (Nicolas Pocock, National
Martime Museum).

18
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There were heavy losses in the battle with over 1,500 men lost, although the
Canopus escaped relatively lightly, with just eight dead and twenty two
wounded. It seems probable that Midshipman Wyndham owed his promotion in
the same year to Lieutenant to his involvement in this engagement, and, like
Captain Austen, would have returned something of a hero. In her novel,
Persuasion, Jane Austen’s character Captain Wentworth, ‘made commander in
consequence of the action off St Domingo, and not immediately employed, had
come into Somersetshire, in the summer of 1806,” where he meets and woos the
heroine, Anne Elliot. Frank Austen similarly returned to marry his fiancée Mary

Gibson (and went on to become Admiral Sir Francis Austen).

Captain Francis Austen A Midshipman George Francis Wyndham
(T Rowlandson) as a midshipman

Wyndham's career progressed rather slowly through the Napoleonic Wars: he
was made Commander in 1810 of the sloop Hawk (a three-masted ship with 14-
16 guns) and Captain in 1812, when he commanded a troop ship from 1812-14
in the Mediterranean and at the siege of Tarragona. Family records give the
impression of Wyndham being on good terms with his Petworth cousins, of
meetings between them in far flung corners of the globe, of snatched encounters

on battlefields.

19
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In 1820, Wyndham married Jane Roberts, daughter of the Vice Provost of Eton
School, in the chapel at Eton. He seems not to have relinquished his naval career
until 1825, at the age of forty. In the same year he acquired Bramley House (or
Park) in the village of the same name just south east of Guildford, a house built in

the previous century or perhaps earlier.

These would have been years of waiting for the Hon. Captain George Francis
Wyndham. His uncle, the 3™ Earl of Egremont, was by now in his seventies. It
would have become increasingly unlikely that any other legitimate heir would be
born; in the phrase of Rev. Chalk, a Devon clergyman writing in 1910 who rather
disapproved of Wyndham, the latter ‘had been brought up with great
expectations.” The old Earl died, aged 86, in November1836. Wyndham, aged
52, finally inherited the title and 14,000 acres in Devon and Somerset, centred
around the family seat at Orchard Wyndham, which had included most of the
parish of Silverton since the early eighteenth century. This paled into
insignificance compared with the wealth left to the 3™ Earl’s eldest natural son,
another George Wyndham (1787-1869), who inherited vast mineral wealth from
the family holdings in the north as well as the Petworth Estate. In 1859, he was
created Baron Leconfield in compensation for his other lost titles. There is an oft
repeated thread running through the accounts given of Silverton Park’s 4™ Earl of
Egremont that he resented not inheriting his uncle’s entire estate as well as his
title, and more of the wealth that benefited his cousins. We have nothing in his
own words to suggest such envy, but rivalry with Petworth House is one motive
easily imputed for the scale of the architectural project he would soon embark on

at Silverton Park.

20
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James Thomas Knowles, architect

First, however, we must return to the house mere Captain Wyndham had bought
in Surrey, Bramley Park. Perhaps in impatient anticipation of actually receiving his
inheritance, in May 1837 Wyndham knocked it down and rebuilt it as ‘a noble
erection of Brick and Slate, covered with Metallic Cement, in imitation of

Stone...of commanding elevation, and on either side...a long Colonnade.’ '

Bramley Park, built for Captain Wyndham in 1837. It would become
better known as the childhood home of garden designer Gretrude
Jekyll from 1848-68, but was demolished in 1915.

The house was both ceremonial and functional, with a rather elementary
symmetry of main rooms either side of a sixty-foot long entrance hall, and in the
provision of no fewer than five water-closets on the ground floor. With its lower
storey lonic colonnades and Doric-pilastered upper storey (a ‘reversed’ and so
inexperienced sequence of orders) this was probably a test piece in more ways

than one, for the architect was trying out a new patent cement facing material at

! Priscilla Metcalf, J T Knowles: Victorian Editor and Architect (1980), p. 19.
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the time. It was the start of a relationship that would last until the 4™ Earl’s
death, for this was his first commission for architect J. T. Knowles. What is
interesting about Bramley Park, and indeed all Knowles’ known designs in the

1830s, is the extent to which they represent rehearsals for the grandeur that

would be Silverton Park.

Knowles was born in 1806, so was some twenty years younger than the 4™ Earl.
He was born in Reigate, where nine generations of Knowles craftsmen were

traced by his biographer, Priscilla Metcalf.

J T Knowles senior (1806-84)

As an architect, Knowles was self-taught, and the firmness of the self-made man
looks out at us from his photograph. His biographer describes him thus: ‘In
appearance the elder Knowles was below middle height, fair hair always parted
on the left and, as time went on, side whiskers framing his shrewd, plain face -

keen, small brown eyes, long upper lip, wide mouth shut tight like a trap — a long-
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headed, determined, self-reliant and self-satisfied, rather silent man, very much

on his dignity, quite humourless."?

His father died when he was just seven, and his widowed mother continued to
trade. From 1830-6, trade directories list Knowles as a plumber and glazier, but it
is likely that the clustering of trades within the family soon led to contracting for
whole buildings. In about 1833 Knowles seems to have designed and supervised
his first construction of a complete house, coated with metallic-sand cement and
dressed with lonic columns ‘on the borders of Hampshire, not far distant from the
sea’. He referred to this building in the paper he would give on metallic cements
at the RIBA in 1850, three years after he became a Fellow: ‘erected about
seventeen years ago.it is the oldest work of my own to which | can

refer....executed in a most masterly manner ...which left nothing to be desired’.

That Knowles was a man of self-confidence and ambition can be seen from the
fact that, just two years after he built his first house, he submitted a design for
the new Houses of Parliament. In 1834, a bonfire of the old tally sticks in the
Exchequer got out of control, with the result that much of the old Palace of
Westminster was destroyed by fire. A committee was duly formed and it was
decided to hold an open competition judged by a Royal Commission of amateurs
to architecture, to avoid jobbery or the vagaries of party politics in open debate.
Entries were to be in Elizabethan or Gothic style, submitted anonymously, with a
£500 premium awarded to each of the designs selected for exhibition. The scale
was to be 20 feet to an inch; ‘No coloured Drawing of any kind” would be
accepted, only three sepia tinted perspectives taken from points specified on a

lithographic plan supplied to competitors on payment of £1.

2 Metcalf, p.19.
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The winner would be given £1,000 prize, if he were not appointed to supervise
the building. There was a huge frontage of 1,000 feet to the river and English
architects had little experience of giving monumental character to facades of
anything like this length — but Knowles set out to prove that he was the man for

the task.

In 1836 Knowles’ designs were duly hung with the other entries in the still
unfinished National Gallery. According to the catalogue, his outsize plan was to
include a ‘great staircase’ (a favourite feature among entries) and three entrance
towers on the riverfront were to be ‘so arranged that carriages may conveniently
pass through them.’” Some of his external Gothic ornamentation suggests
Knowles was already aware of the earlier work of Charles Barry and his assistant
Augustus Pugin, whose design emerged as the winner. Indeed, Knowles would
cultivate Barry’s works and society when he moved with his family to Clapham in

1840.

Perhaps partly as a result of his entry to the competition, by late 1836 Knowles is
described as ‘Architect & Surveyor’ as well as Plumber, and by 1838 he is listed
only as the former. In addition to his own architectural aspirations, Knowles’
success was based on two rather disparate strands that came together in this

part of Surrey in the 1820s and 30s - retired naval officers and metallic cement.

In the 1830s, the Earl of Hardwicke, an admiral, was landlord of half of Reigate.
Successive generations of Knowleses had worked for Hardwicke, both in Reigate
and possibly in Hampshire. Wyndham would certainly have known of the Earl,
and it seems likely that it was through such a naval grapevine that he came to
know the 30-year old Knowles. Certainly, Knowles’s first clients were
predominantly retired naval officers, country gentry and Tory peers — in

Wyndham all three would combine.
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Patented metallic cements

Knowles was also a passionate advocate of so-called metallic cements, which he
used to flamboyant effect in all his known designs. As the editor of The Builder
declared in 1850, ‘This is the age of cements!’ In fact, such compounds were not
especially new in the 1830s. Eleanor Coade had been producing ornaments and
embellishments in her famous Coade stone for decades. Sir John Soane also
advocated the use of propriety renders such as, in his case, ‘Parker’s Roman
Cement’, which survives on a number of his projects, notably at Moggerhanger
House. An even more rarefied reference, perhaps explaining the 4" Earl of
Egremont’s presumed equivalent enthusiasm for the material, is that it was used
during the 1800s as ‘a composition for preserving ships’ bottoms’ (this from a

trade circular of 1802).

So what exactly was a metallic cement? Essentially, its distinctive qualities came
from the aggregate supplied to be mixed with lime to make a hydraulic mixture.
Hydraulic cements are materials that set and harden after being combined with
water as a result of the chemical reactions that take place. The key characteristic
is that the hydrates formed on this immediate reaction with water are insoluble in
water and impermeable to it. Most construction cements today are hydraulic. By
contrast, non-hydraulic mortars need to dry in order to gain strength, which they
do relatively slowly by absorption of carbon dioxide from the atmosphere to re-
form calcium carbonate through carbonation. Today, we value the added
breathability of the softer, non-hydraulic mortars for old buildings, but there is no
doubt that modern construction could not have achieved what it has without the

harder, hydraulic cements that Knowles believed in so strongly.

Let the editor of The Builder in 1843 explain further:
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‘Metallic cement...is something of a misnomer, the material sold under this
name being a metallic sand or powder, coarse or fine as it may be required
— which is to be mixed up with lime, with which it forms what may be
designated a metallic cement; the epithet metallic, in such case, is aptly
chosen, for it is the metallic constituent that gives the peculiar value to the
cement, and a most valuable cement it appears to be, not only for joining
brick and stone together in the ordinary manner, and for concretes for
foundations, but for coating and facing and for moulding in the solid.” ?

Such cement can be ‘as hard almost as a vitrified mass’ when used for
foundations, ‘so hard as almost to defy breaking into in the case of requiring to

work at the gas and water pipes.’

The name for a constituent that provides this hardening is a pozzolan, after the
Romans’ and ltalians’ use of aggregates like pumice and volcanic ash to harden
their mortars (and hence early hydraulic cements were often referred to as Roman
cement). Their concrete properties were especially appreciated in maritime
locations, and indeed Landmark’s Clavell Tower, built on a clifftop in Dorset in
1830, was rendered with such a Roman cement. However, from mid-eighteenth
century the expense and difficulty of obtaining such Mediterranean constituents

had led to a search for alternatives.

The cement was usually made of blue lias lime mixed with the metallic sand, the
exact make-up of which formed the patented element of the mixture. The sand
was generally made from (chiefly copper) slag, containing mainly iron but with
traces of zinc, arsenic, silica and other metals. The material was then ground and

sifted to various degrees of fineness, depending on what it was to be used for.

Our editor continues:

‘..whether we would defend the principle of imitation or not, we must
subscribe to the admission of [metallic cement’s] successful exterior
emulation — the ornaments, such as modillions, trusses, balusters, pierced
parapets, are wrought in it, and have a character and promise of durability
which stone itself could not farther boast of.

3 The Builder, Sept 30™ 1843.
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‘Capitals, delicate capitals of columns, are exquisitely produced in it; and
here we have to note a remarkable condition required in the working of it: -
the sand and lime are to be used almost entirely dry - not more moistened
in fact than the ordinary state in which we find powdered sugar — it is
pressed into the mould, or slightly punched into it by a small hand pestle,
and soon acquires the necessary hardness and intimate junction to be
turned out a stone.’

‘Many instances of the application of cement may be referred to, but
the most valuable one in our estimation is at Herne Bay, where a small
marine turret, or “look-out”, has been stuccoed with it for ten years, and is
now, we are informed, harder than ever. The Earl of Egremont’s mansion at
Silverton Park, near Exeter, an immense building, covering, as it is said, an
acre of ground, has been in the process of re-modelling, under the use of
this material, for the last four years — a large number of foliated capitals of
columns, and an interminable line of ornament, are being done in it — these
furnish the best arguments or test of quality and fitness,; but it was not
exposed to them before every proper experiment had been tried on a
smaller scale, so as to satisfy the architect as to the responsibility he ran in
recommending it.”

The reference to imitation in the first sentence is significant, since we must not
forget that these were also the years that saw the first stirrings of the Arts and
Crafts movement, with its insistence on honesty of material and quality of
craftsmanship. Pugin had been trumpeting such virtues through the 1830s and
John Ruskin was already writing of the importance of using local materials for
buildings that were sympathetic to their local environment. It was just one aspect
of the Battle of the Styles that raged through the middle of the nineteenth

century, filling the tightly set print in the columns of the architectural journals.

J T Knowles’s view was that of a pragmatic modernist for whom functional
performance overrode any niceties about imitating materials. He summed up two
decades worth of experience of cements in the paper he gave to the RIBA in
1850, at a meeting that first presented a Royal Medal to Charles Barry for his
work at Westminster. The paper was titled ‘On the Application of Cements, and
other Artificially Formed Materials, to the Exterior of Buildings’ and extracts were
reprinted in The Builder in two parts, and are appended to this album.* It is a
worthy and thorough paper, in which Knowles defends and urges the use of

cements for both rendering and decorating buildings, and claims their superior

* The Builder, 8" (pp266-7) &15" (pp278-9) June, 1850.
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durability to stone. For him, the accomplishment and durability of a design,
regardless of the medium in which it was expressed, was far more important than
the use of costly (and by implication traditional) materials. In this, he was clearly
not aligned with the medieval revivalists like Pugin, and Knowles condemned the
trammels he perceived architects were being confined to by ‘a small non-
professional party and the system of merely copying the works of the middle
ages.” Not surprisingly, debate raged in The Builder’s columns for several issues

thereafter.

For advocates of metallic cements, the 4" Earl of Egremont’s mansion, even five
years after his death, is consistently used as a prime example of the virtues of
the material they were defending - which brings us neatly back to 1837, the year
the Earl inherited his fortune as well as his title and began, with his architect

Knowles, to plan the construction of a seat to live up to his change in station.

Blackborough House

At the same time as Bramley Park was being reconstructed, Knowles was also
designing a family house in the West Country for the 4™ Earl, at Blackborough.
This was an enormous ltalianate villa, twin towers and huge chimneys towering
over terraced gardens and walled vegetable gardens. The seventy-feet high
towers held a peal of bells and a water cistern. While he was awaiting the
completion of the Silverton Park mansion, the Earl lived in one half and the rector
of Blackborough in the other. Even this house had fifty or so rooms, and, as
would be the case at Silverton Park, some of the bedrooms were fitted out in
nautical fashion. The Great Hall was almost three stories high, with a glass dome,

and it seems this house too was never quite finished.
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Blackborough House in 1913.
It was designed by Knowles for the 4™ Earl in 1838.

(The remnants of Blackborough House are still inhabited, a rare surviving example
of Knowles’s work. The house has changed hands repeatedly, and been
progressively dismantled. It was sold in 1915 to a Mr Hughes from Bristol, who
stripped the interiors and the roof and took the tops off the towers. Rev. Chalk in
the 1930s goes on: ‘Subsequently the lead was sold; the doors and wainscots
were stripped; the central hall became an impluvium; the jackdaws returned to
their own, until no human remained, but the brave custodian, Mr Cecil Custance,
who, after an adventurous career, ended his days within the dismantled walls.’
Chalk records that in 1930 the house was sold to a Committee for a Church of
England Home for training wayfarers. It was requisitioned in the war and bought
in 1950 for use as a farm and car breaking business, as which it continues

today.)
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A watercolour of All Saints, Blackborough, designed by Knowles for the Earl of
Egremont in the village of Blackborough, near Silverton, and built in 1838 for
£1900. The Italianate Blackborough House can be seen on the right. ‘This church
is a neat structure, in the early English style, and its tower is crowned by an
octagonal spire, which is seen at a great distance; the site being about 700 feet
above the level of the sea. The interior is neatly fitted up with 283 sittings all free
except twenty. Before the erection of this church, the parishioners used that at
Kentisbeare, their old church (Al/lhallows), having gone to decay some centuries
ago’

- White’s Devonshire Directory, 1850.

After Earl’s death in 1845, All Saints’ upkeep fell on the parish, requiring
considerable upkeep in its exposed position. As in so many other places, mid-
Victorian enthusiasm would prove to have overestimated congregational
potential. 150 years later, in 1994, the church was declared redundant and
demolished shortly after.
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Egremont Castle

However, the true rehearsal for Silverton Park was Egremont Castle. Silverton
was not the 4™ Earl’s first choice of site for his mansion. He initially
commissioned a design from Knowles for a mansion on a waterless plateau near
Orchard Wyndham, which was to be called Egremont Castle. The surviving

elevation shows it have been a colossal 600 feet long, colonnaded throughout

and with a temple on top.

Knowles’s design for Egremont Castle, done in 1838 (RIBA Drawings Collection).

The very name Egremont Castle reflects the Earl’s architectural idiosyncrasy:
something less castle-like is hard to imagine and there is not a whiff of the
Gothic. Yet the reference to the medieval castle of the fifteenth-century Earls of
Egremont in Cumbria must have been deliberate. This first Egremont Castle had
long been a romantic ruin, but had been popularised by Wordsworth in his 1806

poem, The Horn of Egremont.

Knowles must also have considered himself to be drawing on impeccable
architectural precedents. Priscilla Metcalf draws comparisons between the
Egremont Castle design and the east front of Buckingham Palace, where from
1830 John Nash’s work had been recast by Edward Blore. James Hakewill’s
drawing of the palace, engraved for publication before 1838, had scaled this front

(inaccurately) for a length of 600 feet.
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The east front of Buckingham Palace.

Equally, Knowles’s emphasis on the ground floor for the principal rooms reflects
some of Sir John Soane’s last published designs (though not Buckingham Palace).
The multiplicity of columns for Egremont Castle — and then Silverton Park - was
also typical of the 1830s’ last effort towards new boldness in the Classical, a
style that had run its course. It would soon be definitively overtaken by the
asymmetry of the Gothic Revival and the greater liveliness of the later Victorian

period, to which Knowles and his son would also contribute.
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The 1888 OS map allows the route of the earlier road to be traced, past the
older house on the site, Combesatchfield (here Combe Sackville) — both
marked in red. The footprint of Combesatchfield is also clearly apparent,

within the larger plan of the eventual mansion. Note too the walled kitchen
garden to the west of the stable block, and the disposition of the various

routes connecting the various parts of the estate. The area to the south of the
stables appears to have been planted so that it is quite heavily wooded,
although the lie of the land is such that the stable block would still have been
visible from the mansion. (Not to scale.)
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Combesatchfield House and the Siting of Silverton Park

For whatever reason, Egremont Castle was never built, perhaps because of the
challenges of a water supply, perhaps because of the inaccessibility of the village,
high on the Blackdown Hills and reached only via winding country lanes. That the
Earl liked the design of the ‘castle’ is clear, since he instructed his architect to
use an almost identical colonnaded design for the project at Silverton. Silverton is
close to Exeter, has better roads and also closer to the sea — the Earl kept a fully
crewed yacht, which could dock at Topsham, bringing building materials and,

later, statuary.

It is possible that the site at Silverton was under consideration even before
Egremont Castle was abandoned, since application was made to Devon Quarter
Sessions in 1837 for the diversion of the parish road, which had formerly passed
in front of the mansion site but was diverted to run (as it still does today) on an
embankment and then through a cutting behind the house. A separate item in the
Silverton Park building accounts concerns the building of the Viaduct and Park
Walls, with payment for felling trees and taking down hedges, excavating and
carting away.’ The considerable engineering and expenditure involved in the short
stretch of road shows the importance the Earl placed on privacy and is, in its own
way, as important a part of the history of the site as the building of the mansion.
But why was he prepared to go to such effort to build on an unpretentious site in

a dip in the landscape?

® The building accounts for Silverton Park survive though remain in private family ownership
(2008), making access difficult. Rosemary Lauder studied them in detail for her book Vanished
Houses of South Devon (1997) on which most references to the accounts here are based. A few
further bills and accounts are in the Somerset Record Office at Taunton.
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The answer to this question merely poses another unanswered puzzle about the
architectural schemes of this pair since the 4™ Earl chose the site in order to
incorporate an earlier building into his mansion. In 1831, the 3™ Earl of Egremont,
owner of most of the parish of Silverton already, had added to his holdings by the

purchase of a four-square, eighteenth-century house called Combesatchfield.

Combesatchfield House

We know something of Combesatchfield thanks to its association with the family
of the poet, Samuel Taylor Coleridge. The Coleridges were a local family hailing
from Ottery St Mary. In 1906, the then Lord Coleridge published a book called
The Story of a Devonshire House (the house of the title is not Combesatchfield,

but the Coleridge family home, The Chanter’s House in Ottery St Mary).

Lord Coleridge’s great grandfather was James Coleridge (1759-1836, known as
‘The Colonel” for his efforts in the volunteer militia), elder brother of Samuel
Coleridge by some thirteen years. The Colonel’s wife was Frances Duke Taylor
(1759-1836), whose sister Dorothy (1755-1831) was married to Henry Langford-

Brown, whose family had owned Combesatchfield since 1720. Dorothy (Mrs
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Brown) had no children, and after the death of her husband, often hosted her

nephews and nieces for the summer. These included the Colonel and Frances’s

two eldest sons, James and John, and it is John’s reminiscences, as the future
grandfather of Lord Coleridge, that are described in the book.®

‘The great joy of all the boys [the Colonel’s sons] was to spend their
holidays with ‘Aunt Brown’ at Combesatchfield. Mrs Brown, the sister
of Mrs James Coleridge, was the widow of Henry Langford Brown.
Childless herself, she thoroughly adopted her nephews and niece. After
the stiff fashion of the day, the two sisters always called each other
‘Mrs. Brown’” and ‘Mrs. Coleridge’ and at the beginning of each holiday
the same formula was used: ‘very well, Mrs. Coleridge, | am very glad
to have the boys, only remember | can’t answer for them, and if they
are drowned - and the ponds are very deep - or shoot themselves, or
break their legs, I’'m not to blame.” This protest was perhaps not
unnecessary when we know that there were two of these ponds on
which excursions in tubs were wont to be made, also an old pistol or
two, of which the boys had full command, and horses with which they
did pretty much as they liked. Orchards too, gardens, fruit at
discretion, a famous myrtle walk made Combesatchfield a paradise for
the young. The mistress of the old fashioned, stately square built
house was in keeping with its character. Too far from the Parish Church
for her to walk, she always drove on Sundays in her dark green chariot
with two fat horses and a postillion in drab jacket, all over buttons, with
white leather breeches, top-boots, a black velvet cap surmounting all,
with gold lace on the top, a very vision of splendour to youthful eyes.
The postillion was always a Cookesley, a family which had hereditary
claims to be part of the household. Every servant was to go to Church,
and the House, solitary as it was, to be locked up. She would not relax
this rule, although every year, on the Sunday before Silverton Fair, the
garden, famous for its apricots, was regularly robbed during Church
time.’

‘The house and its antient features have departed, for on the death of
Mrs Brown in 1831 the property passed into the hands of her husband’s
family, who sold it to the last Lord Egremont. The dignified old
Devonshire name of Combesatchfield was not fine enough for him, so
he called it “Silverton Park,” and proceeded to build a monstrous Italian
house clean around the old building, which he never completed, and
upon which he spent an idle fortune.

6 James Coleridge, ‘the Colonel’ (then a Captain in the regular army) bailed out his younger brother
Samuel when he absconded from Jesus College, Cambridge and enlisted on impulse as a private in
15" Light Dragoons under a false name. Two months later, Samuel regretted his hastiness and it was
James who obtained his discharge from the army.
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And there is a strange postscript:

....A generation afterwards my grandfather, Sir John Taylor Coleridge,
paid a visit to the paradise of his childhood. The new buildings were not
finished. He entered through the portico, and after walking down a long
passage came to the old green front door with its brass knocker. As he
stood outside it, waiting for it to be opened, he could hardly help
expecting to see old Drewe the butler, and to hear the noise of the bolt
being withdrawn as in old times.’
So it was Combesatchfield that dictated the choice of the exact siting for the
mansion at Silverton Park, though why exactly that should have been the case
remains a mystery. What is also a mystery is why the 4" Earl chose even to keep
the old front door — and also seems to have adopted its Brunswick Green as his
estate colour, since this was what was found on a surviving fragment of the

grand stable entrance doors.
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The Building of Silverton Park

Drawing of Silverton Park by Knowles (RIBA).

Even if slightly reduced from the Egremont Castle design, Silverton Park would be
a house of prodigious size. Other modifications were also made to the Castle’s
design; in the words of his biographer, Knowles seems to have realised ‘that it
was no longer fashionable to take the Greek Revival literally; so, gradually, he
moderated the Castle design from long-strung out Late Georgian Greek into a
compacter Early Victorian Grecian.’”’ The long runs of colonnades had now
graduated from misjudged lonic over Corinthian at the Castle to correct
progression of Corinthian over lonic, threaded through with square piers and
intermittent parapets. This time, Knowles made much use of projections and
recessions of porticoes and pavilions, to create a modular capriccio of mythical
proportions, enriched with lion-spouts. No wonder it would become known as
Egremont’s Folly. At first, however, it was spoken of in more reverential terms

and was not entirely out of step with contemporary aesthetics. J.C. Loudon,

7 Priscilla Metcalfe, James Knowles, Victorian Editor and Architect (1980), p.23. While mostly
about J. T. Knowles senior’s son (1831-1908) it has useful initial chapters on Knowles senior.
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perhaps the leading arbiter of the day on matters of taste in gardens, gave an
account of the mansion in The Gardener’s Magazine in1843, reporting that the
house at Silverton Park ‘is eminently classical, abounding in colonnades and
porticoes, without a single vulgar feature externally; the interior we had not an
opportunity of seeing.” The writer was less impressed with the site, however:
‘The appearance of the entrance front gave us the idea that the house was sunk

much too low; but this impression is not made by the pleasure-ground fronts.’ ®

Silverton Park as completed externally, in 1895. The position of the
strangely lone tree at the corner is unexplained.

8 Vol 19 p 242.
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Knowles’s drawing of the interior of the hall at Silverton Park (RIBA).
This may well have been one of the two drawings by Knowles exhibited in the
Royal Academy’s Summer Exhibition in 1843. A writer in the Civil Engineer &
Architect’s Journal in June was rather more sophisticated in his architectural

critique than Loudon:

Speaking of the mansion in the last No. of the Gardener’s Magazine Mr Loudon says “’It
is eminently classical, abounding in colonnades and porticoes, without a single vulgar
feature externally”; and that there are colonnades and porticos we can plainly see but
that it is therefore “eminently classical” we will not decide because we cannot make out
the other features very distinctly , nor can we judge at all of the quality of the detail.
The interior Mr L. informs us, he had not the opportunity of seeing, and so far we have
an advantage over him in some degree, being shown what is, no doubt, the most
striking part of the interior — perhaps is made rather more so than it ought to be. This
“Hall” is carried up the height of two floors and on the level of the upper one has a
peristyle of Corinthian columns. Taken by itself this arrangement is effective enough,
though not particularly novel; but we are of the opinion that the general design would
have been more classical had the lower orders been omitted. We do not approve of the
introduction of two orders, particularly of two such distinct ones as Doric and
Corinthian, in interior composition. To use it generally seems to destroy that degree of
unity which we naturally look for in an apartment and to cause its sides to look too
much like as external elevations. We think, too, that in the present instance, the Doric
pilasters carry with them an air of plainness that contrasts rather harshly with the richly
painted and decorated ceiling. The best excuse, perhaps, for the introduction for them
is, that they serve to divide the walls on which the upper gallery rests, into
compartments, each of which is occupied by a large figure on its pedestal (ten of them
in all, five on each side). Though decoration has not been spared, it strikes us that there
is a certain poverty of feeling and poverty of form — perhaps owing to the endeavour to
obtain simplicity, in some of the separate parts; the doors, for instance, would have
borne to be made more important and richer features.’
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Another later reminiscence provides an account of both the building and the scale
of Silverton Park. In 1907, Lady Dorothy Nevill published her book,
Reminiscences. Lady Dorothy visited Silverton Park several times as a girl (she
was born in 1826). Reminiscences includes the following passage:

[The 4™ Earl of Egremont] ‘sent for workmen from ltaly and kept them for
many months casting the beautiful frieze which went all around the house
and seemed to portray a long procession of people sacrificing bulls and
colonnades of Corinthian pillars. There were 187 rooms with 150 cellars
underneath the building, the whole occupying an acre of ground. It
contained 130 marble mantelpieces and between 400 and 500 tablets
formed the frieze around the house. In the centre of the south front was a
stupendous high-relief of the nine Gods with Jupiter and his eagle in their
midst. Inside the house the numerous bedrooms were no larger than a
cabin in a Man of War, ‘quite big enough for a bachelor,’ said Lord
Egremont who had been a sailor. Each contained a bed and a tiny chest of
drawers made to fit the rooms. One had no windows but was lit by a
skylight in the middle resembling an umbrella. His own bedroom was
magnificent and his bath of yellow marble remained a wonder after all else
had gone. The house is said to have cost almost a quarter of a million
pounds — a stupendous sum in those days.’

The accounts for the Earl’s project still survive, kept by his Wyndham

descendants. Rosemary Lauder’s essay in her Vanished Houses of South Devon

gives the fullest account, and what follows is just a summary.

Most of the work seems to have been completed by 1840, when contractor W H
J Hooper presented his bill for £67,838 10s 71/2 d, a huge sum which included
lesser works at Orchard Wyndham and Blackborough House as well as Silverton
Park. Hooper’s bill covered work by most of the trades — masons, carpenters,
joiners, and plumbers. It is easy to forget these days that haulage in itself was

also a significant feature in building accounts before the age of petrol.

The bricks were made somewhere near the site, in a ‘brick field’, where the clay
was dug and fired. For the kilns, fuel had to be provided — in 1838, for example,
there is an entry ‘Delivered to the brick field, 829 doz of furze - £497 8s , at 12s
per doz’ — quite an expense in itself. Such handmade bricks were, in that age of

growing mass production of stocks or machine-made bricks, a costly item and
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somewhat at odds with Knowles’ passion for cement. A brick cadre would have

sprung up first, looking much like the stable block at this stage.

The brickmaker must have died soon after, for in December 1838, the Earl
received the following letter:

Sir,

The widow of the late James Phillips Deceased would feel Particularly
obliged if you could name a day for the Settlement of the Brick Account As
She is in want of cash.

A lot of the sand used came from Blackborough, although this would have been
for the brickwork mortar rather than the external render. The metallic element of
the cement, constituted as sand ground from slag with high iron content and
other trace minerals, was supplied by Messrs Logan & Dyer from London. 209
tons of it came to a quite reasonable £418 (it was made from a waste product,
after all) and this sum included freight, landing and carriage to Silverton — it was
presumably landed at Topsham. The lime to bind it, 679 hogsheads of it, was
indeed Blue Lias as might have been expected from the descriptions given in The
Builder, at an extra bs a hogshead compared with common lime. This would have
been used to make the render to cover the brick columns, walls and pediments of

the mansion.

References to the old house encased within the new structure are found in
carpenter’s items for blocking up doorways, removing partitions and taking up

and re-laying floorboards.

The processional frieze around the upper storey depicted the Exodus of the
Israelites into Egypt, but executed in a Classical style — there was a current
vogue for sculpture in the spirit of the Ancient Greeks but ‘such as ...a Christian
of the nineteenth century would produce’, as Alfred Bartholomew put it in his
Specifications (1840). Only the portico frieze of Egremont Castle was to have

been thus decorated, but at Silverton the frieze ran all the way round the building
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Extract from the building accounts for Silverton Park,
detailing the elements of some of the columns.

(the editor of The Builder’s ‘interminable line of ornament’). Fragments of this
frieze are said to be found in gardens throughout the area, though none have
found their way back during the stables restoration project. We found a few
pieces in the undergrowth, and the best of these are now mounted above the
arch in the sitting room. They seem to be made of an artificial stone more like
Coade stone than cement in appearance, a clay-based mixture that is biscuity in
colour and very fine in texture, probably containing pre-fired and ground
terracotta to prevent shrinkage. More humble embellishment — modillions and
gotti - was provided with metallic cement mouldings, also supplied by Logan &
Dyer. The brick columns were made of hard bricks specially carted from Exeter

and bedded in Roman cement, both presumably specified for added strength.

The result of all these many materials and hours of labour was a building of
formidable statistics. There is an item for 231 feet of plate glass (still prodigiously
expensive at the time); 564 feet 3”of moulded sashes; 4,436 yards of lath and

plaster and thousands more yards of skirting. There were papier méaché flowers,
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and the painters applied up to five coats of oil-based paint throughout the

building. There were fourteen patented water closets.

The interiors were sumptuous, or at least were intended to be. A painter’s bill
gives an idea of this. Presumably working on one of the principal rooms, he
describes the use of blue distemper and cream oil paint, a bead picked out with
gold, ‘Husk ornament Gilt solid flatted and distemper’, Grecian scroll ornament,
Honeysuckle ornament and one large centre flower and one small ditto’, with 30
Grecian pateras (small flattened discs). The same painter also painted, grained
and varnished hundreds of yards of panelling — interestingly, the varnish was

provided by the Earl. Perhaps he had a reliable source of nautical varnish.

Meanwhile, huge quantities of trees and plants were being laid out in the
grounds. If the accounts are to be believed (and there is no reason why they
should not be, though it is strange that there is little sign of these activities in the
surviving illustrations of Silverton Park) 5,020 large trees were planted in the
grounds and on the hill above the new road - oak, elm, Spanish and horse
chestnut, birch, lime, beech, sycamore, laburnum, mountain ash, robinia, bigonia,
walnuts, cedars red and of Lebanon, laurels, poplars, magnolias and acacias. A
wide variety of shrubs were also planted, and seeds ordered for the kitchen

gardens and flower beds.

The house gained fame immediately, both for its owner and architect. Even while
it was still being built, two views of Silverton Park by Knowles were accepted for
the Summer Exhibition at the Royal Academy in 1843. But according to the
disapproving Reverend Chalk, “When measured on completion, Silverton House
was found to be six feet shorter than Petworth.” Chalk is another source for the
apparent rivalry the Earl felt with Petworth: ‘he appears to have been seized with

a desire to emulate the opulence and importance of his cousins. In consequence,
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the eight years of his earldom were years of the most frantic profusion...In

addition he collected furniture and paintings without regard to cost.’®

There is just one account of life within the house before the death of the Earl’s
widow in 1876. Once demolished, it is remarkable how quickly even quite well-
known buildings can disappear from the national consciousness. In September
1945, John Summerson, then Deputy Director of the National Buildings Record
wrote to Country Life to ask if anyone knew the identity of a photograph of ‘a
Greco-Lilliputian extravaganza’ that had been recently deposited with the Record,

which the magazine published.

On 21° September, F. Crozier wrote from the Isle of Wight that the house was
Silverton Park,

‘....built by my grandfather’s half-brother, the last Earl of Egremont, who
died before he had finished it. As a child, | stayed there frequently, with his
widow, my great-aunt Jane, Countess of Egremont, who outlived her
husband by many years.

| can remember the house quite well, and playing in and out of the
colonnades as a child, and as a great treat the steward, Corbett by name,
and with an enormous bunch of keys, used to unlock the unfinished rooms
for my nurse and myself to see. It made a great impression on my childish
mind. | remember how the rooms were unboarded, and chimney pieces
unfinished and there were large wooden cases, containing marbles and
carvings, which Lord Egremont had brought from [taly and Florence in his
yacht. | have many sketches of the house in my possession and letters
written to my mother from there.

| was told, but cannot vouch for the truth, that the house was built
to outvie Petworth, Lord Egremont’s grief and anger being so great at not
inheriting it. My great-aunt used to drive in a yellow coach [the only
reference we have to a coach that might have been housed in the stables!]
from Orchard Wyndham to Silverton and stay a few months at each place
— on one or two occasions | drove with her, a great ordeal for a child, as
she had a gouty leg and | was told not to go near it.”

Certainly the Earl set out to rival his benefactor the 3™ Earl as a collector of art,
books and antiquities. The house held some 200 paintings: Reynolds,

Gainsboroughs, Tintorettos, Van Dykes, Poussins.

® Trans of the Devonshire Association, No. 4 1934, Blackborough, by Rev E.S. Chalk
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He had two Egyptian mummies in their cases, other Egyptian statues and four
silver Buddhas. The furniture and everything else in the house was sumptuous.
There are bills in the North Devon Record Office for buying cashmere for curtains
in London in 1840, and wonderful London shopping sprees from 1839 to 1844,

buying caviar, champagne truffles, morello mushrooms...

The extravagance could not last. Although work continued beyond Mr Hooper’s
submission of his account in 1840, by late 1844 there are signs that the Earl was
beginning to feel the pinch. Work seems to have stopped at the unfinished stable
block (discussed in volume 2 of this album) in 1840. Moreover, the Earl’s
steward, a barrister called Counsellor Tripp, had spotted a legal loophole in the
terms of various life tenancies granted by the 3™ Earl on his inherited lands in the
village of Kentisbeare and Somerset. The 4™ Earl began attempting to recover the
properties without compensation, to let them again at higher rents. According to
Rev, Chalk, this caused great distress in the village, and some evicted tenants

faced ruin.

On 5™ April 1845, a letter appeared in the Devonshire Chronicle & Exeter News
from ‘A lessee’, damning the Earl of Egremont for his actions and the misery and
suffering caused by his calling in the leases. The Editor even omitted ‘certain
passages as the earl is not in a fit state of mind to hear the whole truth at once’,
an intriguing reference, and one overtaken by events, for the Earl had died three
days earlier on 2" April 1845. His death was described as ‘unexpected.’ ‘This
spendthrift consumed £300,000 in eight years and the estates are still
encumbered with mortgages,” wrote Rev. Chalk in 1934. ‘There seems little doubt
that had the earl lived, he would have had to sell the prodigy of his outlandish

taste.”'°

'% Transactions of the Devonshire Association, Parochial Histories, No. 4, 1934, Blackborough, by
Rev E.S. Chalk
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On 15™ April, the Chronicle described the funeral:

‘On Wednesday the mournful and extensive cavalcade which conveyed the
remains of the late Earl of Egremont to his last resting place set out from
Silverton Park to Orchard Wyndham where the family vault is situate. The
procession was accompanied by the tenantry amounting to about 100
persons through Bradninch and Cullompton.. the bells of the respective
churches being tolled and continued along the route. On Thursday at
Orchard Wyndham the procession was formed from the mansion of the late
earl to the church. It was preceded by the tenantry in mourning headed by
four mutes after whom plumes of feathers were carried. Then came the
coronet of the late earl carried by an esquire and escorted by pages. The
bearers followed, after whom came the hearse containing the body of the
deceased, placed in a mahogany shell enclosed in a state coffin covered
with blue velvet and adorned with silver ornaments. The hearse was
escorted by eight sailors comprising the yacht establishment of the late
earl, their arms being encircled with crepe. The whole procession was said
to extended for one mile. The solemnity if the scene was suggestive of
many mournful thoughts in the minds of the spectators as the grave closed
over the last lords of Egremont.’

Presumably, given the dispute over leases, not all the tenantry harboured such
‘mournful thoughts’. With no heir, the Egremont title had also died with the Earl
(it was revived later in the century). The total Practical Debt on the estate was
£251,070 in 1845, all borrowed as private debts from various Wyndhams and
other noble relations and friends. The interest alone was over £10,000 a year,
and the Earl’s poor widow must have had an anxious time of it. The motivation of
the Earl remains an enigma. Against what hope of future wealth did he borrow
these huge sums given his relatively modest estates in Devon and Somerset? He
was 52 when he inherited his title, with no children and a rapidly diminishing
chance of producing an heir. The 4™ Earl does not even warrant a mention in the
family tree of the Wyndhams of Petworth, which passes from the 3™ Earl to his
natural son and on through the Lords Leconfield. Just as his mansion was a mere
sport and footnote in the history the country house, so the 4™ Earl himself has

been largely ignored in Wyndham family history.
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Silverton Park after the Earl of Egremont’s death

The state of the estate finances in 1845 is reflected in the speed with which
certain items were disposed of. Within a month of his death, there was a sale of
some of the Earl’s property and possessions at nearby Park Farm. The livestock
and equipment sold included five carriage horses (sold for a total of £151, four in
pairs) and cob horses, a mare and harnesses and a gig — all, most likely,
inhabitants and contents of the stable block. Later that year all the Earl’s nautical
equipment was sold (though not the yacht itself) and in August, the Countess
sold her china at Christie’s (Worcester and Sevres services among other items).
This sale also included a large quantity of wine — cases and cases of port, sherry,
Madeira, claret, champagne, burgundy, Chablis and a case of whisky from the

Duke of Sussex’s cellar, all selling for a total of £2,211 8s 5d.

The greenhouse stove and plants were also sold: acacias and camellias,
gardenias, orange trees (one fruiting), fig trees and yuccas. Rather incongruously,
the Christie’s sale also included some building materials: two large iron beams,
two iron columns and a quantity of Blue Lias lime among other items. Which of
the Earl’s building projects they came from is not recorded, but it is hard to
escape the conclusion that the Countess was hard up, and that building work

would now cease.

Little is known about the house between 1845 and the death of Jane, the
Countess, in 1876. From F. Crozier’s letter to Country Life quoted above, it
seems the house was only lived in a few months a year, and presumably much of
it was kept closed up even then as many of the rooms were unfinished. Tickets

for a concert at Silverton Park in 1867 are a chance survival in the Record Office.
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A large watercolour of the west elevation of Silverton Park done in June
1879 by Edward Ashworth, perhaps associated with the sales particulars
if the date is correct (compare with the detail of the 1888 OS map
below).This is an intriguing image since enlargement shows that the
northern block of the house is apparently just a shell, since trees can be
seen through its upper colonnade. Surviving photos of the south elevation
make this unfinished structural aspect much harder to spot.
(Westcountry Studies Library, Exeter)
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If the Countess still travelled by coach, at least part of the stable block was
presumably also in intermittent use. Indeed, from a watercolour of 1879 the
house and its immediate surrounds seem to have been kept in good order, an
impression which is confirmed by the photos from the end of the century. The
1879 watercolour, showing a relatively well-peopled landscape, was presumably
done to encourage prospective purchasers, since the house was put up for sale in
1876 to clear the Earl’s still enormous debts by the heir, his sister Laura who was

married to a clergyman.

There were no takers. Eventually, in December 1892, a sale of contents was
held, conducted by Thompson, Rippon & Co. Hundreds travelled to view the
mansion and its extravagant contents, though again no one bought the house
itself. The catalogue lists the contents of 60 furnished rooms, not the 187
mentioned in the Nevill account, which perhaps included service rooms and
unfinished areas. The sale was held over three days between 6™ and 8™
December 1892, the auction beginning at 11.30am each day to allow buyers to
reach Silverton by rail from Exeter and Taunton. Supposedly temporary sheds put
up to house the contents for the sale would, many years later, provide the
justification for planning permission for the modern house which stands to the

west of the stable block.

Today, the mansion’s contents can be tracked through the provenances of

paintings and objets in galleries all over the world.
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A page from the Catalogue for the 1892 sale of the house contents.
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The property was finally sold for builders’ materials to Messrs. Atkins & Taylor of
Exeter. 300 tons of iron girders and 200 tons of lead were stripped out. Mr
Herbert Fulford of Exeter auctioned various fittings from the house, such as the
chimneypieces. One of these, of white Italian marble, ended up in the Music

Room of nearby Killerton House (today run by the National Trust).

Too resilient to be dismantled, on 12™ November 1901, the front of the 4™ Earl’s
mansion was dynamited with three successive charges before a crowd of
fascinated spectators. The first charge loosened the solid pillars, the second the
centre of one of the walls and the third charge, of 22 fuses, mined two pillars. It
is said that the army were called in to help clear the stubborn structure, the

above ground remnants not being finally cleared until the 1930s.

On 27™ May 1915, at the Rougemont Hotel in Exeter, the Silverton Park,
Blackborough and Kentisbeare estates were offered for sale on behalf of Mr W.
Wyndham of Dinton Hall, Wilton in Wiltshire, who had inherited the estate on the
death of his own father and was still trying to clear the debts of the 4™ Earl,
which would not finally be cleared until the 1970s. The grounds were described
in the sales particulars as still being ‘beautifully timbered and shrubbed.... Walled
fruit and vegetable garden..sheds, glasshouses and grass paddock.” W Ackland
paid £500 for the site, stables and mansion grounds, three cottages and the
walled fruit and vegetable garden. So ended the longstanding Wyndham family
connection with the area. All that now remains of Silverton Park — Egremont’s
Folly — apart from the stable block are the traces of the cellars and occasional
fragments of masonry in the overgrown area of self-seeded woodland to the
south east of the stables. The estate land and the stable block passed into

agricultural use.
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THE STRANGE TALE OF
THE SILVERTON AMARNA PRINCESS

While Landmark was restoring the stable block, a strange
postscript to the 4™ Earl of Egremont’s fine collection came to
light in the activities of the Greenhalgh family of Bolton, the so-
called ‘garden shed gang.’ The son was a skilled, self-taught
forger of antiques of all kinds, which he made in the garden shed.
He and his father would conduct meticulous research, and his
parents, an unassuming elderly couple, would then take the item
to the experts, claiming to have found it in the attic, or that it had
been in the family for generations, etc. In 1999 the Greenhalghs
acquired a copy of the 1892 Silverton Park sale catalogue. Using
as provenance the vague description of ‘eight Egyptian figures’, in
2002 Greenhalgh manufactured what became known as ‘the
Amarna Princess’, a statue of one of the daughters of the
apostate Pharoah Akenaten and his wife Nefertiti. Only two other
such statues were known to exist. Meticulously researched as
ever Greenhalgh’s version was apparently made of translucent

alabaster.

In fact, the statue was knocked up in the garden shed in three
weeks out of calcite, coated with a mixture of tea and clay. His
father then approached Bolton Museum with it, claiming his
grandfather had bought it at the 1892 sale. After consulting
experts at the British Museum and Christies, the museum bought
the Amarna Princess for £439,767. It remained on display until
February 2006, when the Greenhalghs’ whole operation was

finally rumbled. They were brought to justice the following year.
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Some Postscripts

The Later Career of J T Knowles

Silverton Park and Blackborough were not Knowles’s only commissions for the 4™
Earl in the West Country. He also designed a church at Blackborough (see below)
and rectories at Kentisbeare and Williton, for which he also designed an
unexecuted church. Knowles must have regretted the death of his best client in
1845, but continued to build a respectable architectural practice becoming, in his
biographer’s phrase, ‘architect to the middle station’. In 1847, he was proposed as
Fellow of the (then) Institute of British Architects, a membership that required
seven years of professional practice. Not all burgeoning architects of the 1840s
aspired or bothered to join the Institute, but Knowles was both ambitious and
diligent: it must have taken courage to deliver his 1850 paper on metallic cements

before the likes of Charles Barry and George Gilbert Scott.

Since 1831, he had had an office at No. 1 Raymond’s Buildings in Gray’s Inn as
well as in Reigate. By 1840, Knowles and his family left Reigate for Clapham
Common, where they leased a house. Clapham in the mid-nineteenth century was
a burgeoning social and intellectual scene for the professional classes, in which
Knowles, and later his son and namesake, would take an active part.
Commissions for villas for wealthy men around Reigate continued, and in 1843
Knowles built St John’s Church in Redhill, largely recycling the design he had
done for the 4™ Earl of Egremont at Williton. Like almost all his designs, the
church no longer exists. It proved faulty in design and function, being enlarged in

1869, and largely dismantled and rebuilt from 1889.

In 1845, Knowles built a house, Friday Grove, on Clapham Common for himself
and his family and later other houses there for lease — all have been demolished.
He would also build warehouses and offices in London, and a country house at

Hedsor, Buckinghamshire.
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St John's, Redhill Hedsor, Buckinghamshire

In 1846, Knowles was joined in his practice by his fifteen-year old son, also
James Thomas Knowles, who would become a much better known architect than
his father and also well-known as founder of the Metaphysical Society and editor
of the magazines Contemporary Review and subsequently The Nineteenth
Century, in which he published poetry, notably by Swinburne and Tennyson.
Knowles junior was more of an intellectual than his father, participating fully in
the literary and intellectual circles of the day and a close friend of Alfred
Tennyson, for whom he would design a country house at Aldworth in Sussex. He
is also credited with having prevented the building of the Channel Tunnel, which
but for his well-orchestrated campaign of opposition in The Nineteenth Century

might have been constructed in the 1880s, instead of waiting until the 1980s!

In the middle decades of the century, however, father and son worked on several
projects together, most notably (since it is a rare building by Knowles senior that
still survives) the Grosvenor Hotel at Victoria Station, from 1859. The Grosvenor

was not the first station hotel in London but it was the first of a new type.
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P

svenor Hotel near Victoria Station.

Detail of the intricate Interior of the Grosvenor Hotel. Though almost
mouldings on the Grosvenor, twenty years later than Silverton Park, it perhaps
artificial mouldings which the gives us a hint of the splendour that the 4™ Earl of
Knowleses helped make Egremont commissioned Knowles to provide.
popular.
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It was only a recent idea that the chief termini should provide fine hotels equal to
the demand of the traffic on the lines, to provide a metropolitan equivalent of the

‘Railway Hotels’ in provincial towns.

It was a high profile commission by the London Brighton & South Coast Railway,
to upstage its rival and neighbour, the London Chatham & Dover Railway,
described by Sir John Betjeman as the most conspicuous example of railway
rivalry anywhere — and the Knowleses, father and son, were the men to rise to
the challenge. Their design is characteristic of a type of architecture which still
seemed able to resolve the ‘Battle of the Styles’. The Grosvenor Hotel was hectic
blend of Classical, Florentine-ltalian, Moorish and contemporary Gothic design,
with rich surface decoration and elaborate curved and dormered pavilion roof. All
balconies and railings were elaborately moulded, with extravagant carved friezes
and garlands obeying Ruskin’s dictates by representing wildflowers, vine leaves
etc. (these were contributed by Knowles junior). The first and top

floor spandrels to the distinctive arched windows bore medallions with portrait
busts of famous contemporaries. This was a groundbreaking work in its time,
briefly prompting its own ‘Grosvenor Style’ and a general generosity of use of
mouldings that filtered down right down to terraced houses in Clapham and

indeed all over London.
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The only other Knowles family commission worthy of comment to Landmarkers
for its coincidental link with another of our buildings, Beckford’s Tower, is one for
Francis Cook, a rich draper for whom Knowles senior did several projects, both
commercial and domestic, through the 1850s. In 1856 Cook bought a large and
ruinous villa in Portugal, called Monserrate at Cintra — the same villa that William
Beckford leased when he fled to Portugal in 1794. Cook commissioned Knowles
junior to rebuild it for him, which he did, not unsuccessfully. The design would
have been done during the building of the Grosvenor Hotel and provided another
unbridled opportunity for the application of mouldings. Today, it stands in a

famous park, created by another Englishman, William Stockdale.

Details of the Palaccio at Monserrate, at Cintra in Portugal.

Knowles senior died in 1884 at the age of 78. The RIBA President’s Address on
Knowles’ death showed he was a loyal member to the end: ‘a man who, having
passed a most laborious life in the active performance of professional duties,
might well have claimed in his declining years entire rest, but who preferred to
remain amongst us as an Examiner and Member of the Council, where | may
safely say his presence was always as welcome as his opinions were valuable’.

Knowles died just a few days after his last attendance.
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Knowles’'s paper on Metallic Cements

266

the designs which are pointed out as super-
eminently good come from abroad.

In the first round of the fight, England has
gone down !

Without further comment at this moment,
we give the names (or mattoes) of alf,webelieve,
who have submitted des'gns, and are not men-
tiored in the previous lists:—

Messrs. Acollas, Paris; Aickin and Caspes, W.
Albon, F. C. Anderson, J. S. Austio, W. Austin,
A. Beaumont, W. Bull, J. S. Benett, J. Black,
E. Blatchley, A. W. Boulnois, . Boyxle, R. Broad,
B. Broadbridge; R. Brawn, H. P. Burk, J. G.
Crace, * C. E. G, " C.T. G A. F. Campbell,
J. Catt, J. Claringbull, J. Colshurst, J. Colsen,
C. C. Coote, W. R. Corsuu, David Cowanj M. |
Damas de Culture, Paris; G. J. Darley, W. Dennis, !
Francis Drake, H. Duesbury ; M. Dutlocq, Paris ;
M. Dapuy, Versailles; 0. C. Edwards, “E. L. C.,"”
J. Eldudge, J. Elliott, D. Erskine, W. J. Lveritt,
JI. Théodore Faure, M. Desaint Felix wud E. E. |
White, I Finlay, C. Folkard, D. C. Forbes, . |
Forrest, W. Freebody, L. Piirges, Crefuld; A, .
Gurrard, William Geggie, J. Gibson, R. Gilling-
bam, C. W. Gaoch, J. Gould, R. Graene, E. W, :
Grubb, R. S. Grubb, T. B. Guppy, Naples: J. C,
Haddan, Herr Hamuinnn, lamburg

naford, O. Hansard, R. Hardy, J
Thomas Haw, &. Heiltan, J. Hendrey, J. Hewtr, |
W

. Hollands, G. Horton, A, 1"

4 Hawell, 1.
Hurwitz, A. Jackson, C. Jayoe; Jizkoweki,
Warsaw ; J. Jopling, H. J. Kaye, P Rennaly
and R. Kennedy, A Lady, 8. W, Leonard, R. Lobb,
Locke Brothers, . Lockwood and W, Mewson,
H. Lote, R. Lovely, G. Mackenzie: Mazni mud
Thummeloap, I's . Mallet, Muansell and .
Elliott, R. M. Marciant, P. J. Margary, W. I
Marshall, D. Mickle, J. Mitchell, Mountheath, *
J. Moun, Captain Moorsom, G, Margan: J. H. |
Mailer, Hobland : W, Nethersole, I. W. Newberry,
F. B. Nawman, C. 1. Newton, E. Pacaice, T. Pea-
eack, J. wbarton, G. Perry, Q" W,
W, Rankin, W. Rewd, Reid

Radley, W, Rilro
and Butcher, S. Ruilly, G. B. Reunte, H. Ricardy,

w. W

son, Robertson,

Rob
Dy e, 1L Rowse, 1111,

aI5E, L
Razeell, B. Rvde, G. Sanderson, C. Sanderson, |
. Sandeman, W Scurry, ** Sed quis custodict Cus- ¢
todes,”” J. R. Sewell, E. Smallwood, J. M. Smith, *

W. J. Smith, Cawpbell Smith, Saver znd War-
rener, F, Stemnitz, W, Stewart, M. J. Stutely, H.

ing, G. T JuTaciae, T Taylor, 310
aton, D. W. Thomis, R. M. Thompeon, P,

Thompsom, F. Thompson, Jnmex Thrapp, 11
Turaer, ** Valcan,”" J. Walker, J. Warren, 1.
“hitcombe, hiwiek, (G Wilkie, 5, Wilkin-

me, O, Wi

I
n, 1. G, Wikan, R.
F. Wood, aud James Wylson.
it will he seen that none of our leading men
Tave competed.

ON THE PROPRIETY OF THE APPLICA- |
TION OF CEMENTS,
OR OTULA ARTIVICIALLY FORMED MAIGRIALS,
TO THL EXTERIONS OF OUILBINGS. ;
-

Brrore 1 enter upon this diffieult and
d question, 1 wish to rlate distinetly
taat wierever I may express an opinion of my 1

own, utsupported by actual abservations, 1
shall do so with great ditfidence, and with the !
fuil conviction that such opinion may e
proved hereafter to be erroneous: hecause I
feel that before the nature of cements or
stuccoes can be clewrly understood, a larger
amount of statistical details, and a much more
correct knowledge of the chemical changes
which are produced by apparently minute
differences in the materials themsclves, or in
the conditions under which they are applied,
than is possessed at present, are zbsolutely
necessary.

. Although the practice of covering the exte-
riors of buildings with some description of
plastic materiels appears to have prevailed
from a very eatly period, it will, I think, be
Teadily admiued, that in our own nge and
country this practice bas been carried beyond
all former precedents. It would be impossibie,
©on an oceasion like the present, to enumerate
all the causes which have produced, or have
assisted in prodacing, this result; but perhaps,

.@s among the most prominent of these, I
mty mention, the cold and humid atmosphere
of cur northern climate ; the impossibility (in
many localities) of cobtaining, except at a cost
00 great to be incurred, such materials as wil}
effectually resist the destroying influences of

i of resisting, for any lengthened pe

Cand ocenpied immediately wfter their comple-

“there Dhas never been since

rain and frost; and a growing inclination on

THE BUILDER.

; f
the part of our employers to add sometbing of |
the beautiful in form to that convenience of
arrangement and fitness for the intended pur- !
pose, without which the most elaborate pro- .
ductions of our art are really failures, or can
at best be deemed but splendid errors.

It is true, that when the practice of employ-
ing stuccoes and cements for covering the
exteriors of buildings was first adopted, the
science of geology had not revealed that valu-
able page in the yreat book of nature which has
recently attracted so large o measure of study
and atfention, and that the nature and quality
of the materials which compose the erust of
our planet are, through the aui of that moderm
scicuce, better understood by us than they
could he by those who were engaged in the
art of building hefore this source af knowledye
i been revealed.  Yet this mlditional know.
ledge, upon a subject so deeply interesting to
the architect, has tended to confirm the im-
pression which previously existed, hy showing
him that in many portions of the United
Kingdom no hwlding stone can be obtained

| capable of effectually excluding mwisture, or

riml, the
vicissitudes of our clunate; amd by convineing |

i him that, in order to secure in such cases dry,
! hzalthful, warm, and comfortable habita

‘especially when huildings are rapidly erected, |

tion), two thiugs are absolutely necessary, and
that a third is exceedingly desirable @ - !
tatly. T e of ull the external
walls = g or skin of sane
material impervions to water,

Indly. That the moisture from the eartd
should be prevented from rising into the brick
or stonewark by the intraduction of same
water-proof material into all the external aml !
mternal walls and  partitions,  immediately
above the ground level,

drdly. (Where bricks are employed, and a;
wroper amount of earclul supervision ean he
reised) that the exterpal walls should be
hollow, with an air space of 4 or 4} inches he
tween the esternal and iuternal work, except-

ing at the jambs of the openings and the poiuts
L naturdl

nf)jun:'l.'mn with the internal walls, |
That the necessity for these, ar slmilar pre. ;

: cantions, in the crection of dwelling-houses in ;
. exposed situatic

=

L s perfeetly well Known o
the elder members of the profession, und that

Cthey adept them in thee practiee, 1 entertain ¢
. nu doubt; but as theie advantages may not be !

cqnally elear to thove who have yeb to enter
upon the practical departiment of ourat, and .
fest they should imagine that 1 am speaking -

! theoretieally, and not from actual experience, b

will mention, that a house was erected abaut
six years apo, in an exposed siwation, and on
a stiff clay soil; that the carcaxe was carrivd ©

cup in an uousually wet sutimn, and the walls
,vxposed to heavy and continuous rains; that

no wall battening was used in any portion of |
the huilding, which was roofed in at the end
of Decewsber, and completed and inhabited by

Cthe end of the following October, at which

perind it was quite fit for orcupation; that -
that time the |
slightest appearance of damip in any portion of

it, fram the basement to the roof, nor is the
smallest settement perceivable; and this result |
is, I helieve, mainly, if not entirely, attributable !
to the adoption of those precautions which I |
have mentioned as heing, in my opinion, |
essential in nearly all cases, and to one other,
which is only important on clay soils, that is,
the covering of the whole urea occupied by the
building with a bed of concrete, which should
not be less than six, and need not be more
than twelve inches in thickness.

'U'o those who have been accustomed to huild
only in London, or in other towns aml cities,
it would, 1 believe, be quite inpossible to
convey an adequate idea of the difficulties
which must frequently be encountered by
those to whom the erection of isolated houses
in very exposed situations is entrusted ; when,
as very frequently happens, no such stone or
bricks can be obtained as will effectually resist
therain, and prevent it, when accompanied by
beavy gales of wind, from passing through
the walls.

I could, if time permitted, mention many
remarkable instances of the mechanical foree
with which the rain is sometimes driven hon.-
zontally against the walls of buildings in ele-
vated positions; but I will select one only,

*teeting

[JvxE 8, 1850.

which madea great impression on my mind
During a visit to a large huilding in course of
erection on Black Down ‘the highest ground
1 believe, in North Devonl, I observed a purj
tion of & v-inch n wail saturated with
water. o had been roofed in
some weeks before, T was a good deal syr.
prized at thi< appeararce: hut T had an oppor.
tupity, a fow o rwards, of witness':ng
what explaine me the cause of it; for,
eing on the sput during a beavy gale of wind
and rain, [ stoad fur some time watching the
an assing through a

I~ fout af epace, and
it the opposite
coarss of about an
<¢ on the nther side,
sessing this oceur-
d ugon fo ovamine a chueeh,
which b beon erected o arly-exposeld
position, through the widds of which leven
these of the toaver the ram found adinission
to the interior farge quantities.  Three
or four yoars sullere | to elapse,
during which s found to be conti-
nualiv mer ¢ eoversd with
stueea, of the wind which Ishiallhave hereaflter
to deserihe, wi

d o that, as it has
iich 1 am ac-

N siizle Tnstanes

K]
ohjections
L tls molde of
exteriors of our

buildin s, vie,
i . ~oes are nat durahle,
e prasive reparations.
SVery eastivg not ©o much at
s hyr 1 of the colunring or painting
in ol which it i thowsht orroneously 1 be-
Hieve) thiat they wlterwanis repiie,
alse and deceptive, inasmuch
aterials, do,
mensare, avarme the appearance of
Tnciiens.

"That. ntroduction has led to all that
i False in desien, aml defestive 1 construe-
tion,

Al that, when emploved in decoration, the
enriehinents ar 1 <harnness of
outline, and de h the
productions of Kt .

Now, [ must readily . that a very large
proportian of cement and  stueeco work
which we see in London and its aweighbour-
hood s so fanity o design ansd defective in
execution, that i is ulienit to find language
strong enpugh for its condemnation. 1 know
that many of the stroctures which we see
Ledlin “with what are intended for, and by
wome, periaps, ure dignficd with the name of,
deeorations are mdeed hut whited sepulehres.
Phat msany of the bricks used in themn might,
; hand, be crushed to powder.
That th 1 osed of earth, dug
Frotu the foundations, mived with a very SETHIH
quantity of white chatk lime, That the tmbers
¢, bath o quashty and scantling :
and, that in =hort, the whole sMair, from .'h.c
foundation to the roof, eomprises all thatis
miserahle in constraction, amd false in taste.

But 1 cannat think that these defects are
refernble to the use of stuceoes and cements,
or that by the external appiieation of these
materials, strnetural defeets ean be success-
fully concealed. On the contrary, I bhelieve
that the cracks and openings produced by the
settlerent of piers or arches; by the 5hr:n'k-
age of timber, improperly introduced ; by the
fracture of stone lintels, or other such»_hkc
eauses, are to the full ns conspicuous in &
stuccaed building, as in one which is face
with brick or stone, and quite as difficuit to
repair effectively. Indeed, I feel so strongly
the neeessity of extreme care being taken 10
the construction of buildings which are io-
tended to be covered with ccment, that I not
only turn inverts under all the openings, b:‘
feequently owmit also the reveal arches and the
timber lintels, carcying, instead of them, T"-;
lieving arches through the whole thickness 0
the wall, I have never yet seen any cracks of
settlements in the walls of buildings thus
constructed when carefully smccged.. and I 3;;
no 1egson why this mode of building shou!

c
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ot be almost universally adopted, when cement
or stucco are intended to be used, as it is
more effective and durable, and is not at all
more costly.

It has been frequently asserted that no che-
mical or mechanical combinations of mutter
will result in a successful imitation of what
has been effected in nature’s laboratory, and

that no artificial materials can be made equal .
i1 oyet it

in durability to natural productior
would, I think, be difficult to find in England
any description: of building stone more capable
of w

well made and well burnt bricks, and terra
cotta.

It is true that the firing to which bricks and
terra cotta are subjected may be fairly con- !
gdered as constituting a great difference in
eir power of resisting atmospherie influence, !

bt
2s compared with any of the cements which
are now usually employed; buet it is quite
certain that cements and mortars have been
made, which, for hardness and durability, were

zimost, if not quite, equal to the hardest bricks. -

i T cannot doubt the possibiiity of again

Going, in our own time, what was certainly

zecomplished at a period when, however much
grandeur of conceptinn and just zppreck
of heantiful forms mizht have ceded those
with which men’s minds appear o be endued
sresent, the plivsical scienecs woe but Lt
tnown, and contributed only in o very slight
degree to the comforts and the soeind enjoy-
ments of the buman rare, X jroof that Tam

at

not overstating the power of resistance to
aspheric influences which  mortars and
ents, when properdy prepa do un-

passess, 5 afforded by a puoee of

which has evidently been used as an external
cement or luceo, and which must have heen
exposed to the action of rain and frost for
fourteen or fifteen hundred years.

It is said that fuflures ¢ Irecuiently
in works which have been executed in ¢
and that the decorations produced in artificial

accur

materigls are always deficient in that sharp- .
hing, which *

ness of outline, and delizasy of &
constitute the grast charm of
enrichments.

chitectural
But I womid ask whether it iy

not possible to lessen, if not wholly to remaove,

these very grave ohjectiony, by great altention
on the part of the architeet in designing, and

especially in inspecting the madelling of his »

enrichments whilst in the clayv;- by e deter-
mination, on his part, to hecome thoroughly
acquainted with the nature and properties of
sil such caments as he inteads to cmploy for
the covering or decoration of his buildings,
whether internally or externally. so that he
may he enabled to furm a correct apinion when
he sees the work in progress, whether the
materials have been properiy prepared
manufacturer, and then sent to the building in
a state fit for use by the contractor, and are
being judiciously mived and applied by the
workmen and labourers ;~by empioying n the
execution of hix works such men only as are

thoroughly masters of their business, making

them responsible for the reparations and re-
instatements of wny portions of the works
which may fail within five or seven years after
their completion ;—ant byseruring the services
of clerks of the works, or foremen, who are
well acquainted with the nature of the cement
to Le employed, and who will keep a vigilant
eye aver the proceedings of the workmen.

But some will doubtless tell me, that if, in -

order to prevent failures in the eflect, or in the
durability, of cement work, i this care and
Circumspection are reguired, failures and im-
perfections are quite certsin to occur, Lhis
may be true ; but if true as regards coment
12also true of other works required in the
grection and completion of a building. And
how, let me ask, can the imperfections so often
found 1o exist in the plumber’s work, and in
the drainage of our buildings; in the car-

pentry of the roofs, floors, and partitions; in !
the foundations and the brickwork, be pre- |

vented? How can the disintegration and
crumbling away of the most prominent mem-

ers of stone cornices, strings, baiconies, and
chimney-tops, within & few years after their
completion, be avoided, excepting by the same
degree of knowledge, care, and skiil, on the
part of the architect, the contractor, the clerk
of the works, the foreman, and the workmen,

hstanding, for a lengthened period, the
situdes of our climate, than thoroughly

nortar, from Wroxeter, now exhihited, '

ment, |

y the |

which I have insisted on as essential to the
successful employment of cements ¥

There are, however, among those who have
most strenuously opposed the use of these
materials, a considerable number who ground
their objections nat on the want of durability,
the chances of failure, or the extra cost, but
on their want of reality, their resemblance to
some natural productions, and the smallness
of their cosl, as compared with the stone
casings which they sometimes resemlie. Now,
however desirable, end proper, and cemmend-
able it may be, or doubtless is, to introduce
inty the structures which are reared in honour
and for the worship of the great Creator, the
most valuable and the choicest of carth’s pro-
ductions, yet it must, [ think, be admitted,
that the qualities of the materials in which the
thought of a great artist is embodied (so that
it possess but durability and beauty), sre in all
other cases of very secondary importance, 1
fear, however, that the disposition to place so
higrh a value ou costly

stones, and woods, and |

metals, which appears lately to have prevailed

amongst those who profess to be the patrons
of the arts, is caleulated to produce on the
inds of the people generally false impres-
sions, because it leads them to admire that

Cwhich is difficolt of attainment except to the !

passessors of  great wealth, imstead of that
which is truly grand, and beautiful, and ori-
pinal indos
+ That speeles of admiration which ig excited
. by the costliness of the materials employed in
warks of art, bas always appeaned to me to
partake considerably of the vulgar aud the
arharoy

for, o3 muh us the heavens ave -

bigher thun the earth, so much, do T believe, |
the emanations of the mind to be above and .

Legond the mex
embadied,

vehicle in which they are
Whatever is really beawtiful in

fora, or truly harmontous in colour, should be

enshrined as wmongst the most precious of ;¥
man's productions ; and [ eannot doubt that :
the time will come (although, perhaps, not in ;!
our day? when the immaterial thought of the |

. artist shall be more highly valued than any

stones, or woods, or metals, however rare or
vostly, in which it may clothed. Much better
i5 it, in my opinion, to have the emanations of
deep thought, the creations of those minds
which have heen embued with a due apprecia-
tion of the beautiful in form, embodied in
muterials which might endure for only half a
century, than the eternal stereotypes we now
" sed rising throughout this great and weslthy
country, perpetuated 1 stone which would en-
dure for countless sges.™
Javes Taomas KxowLes.

AN ARGUMENT AG
CEMEXNT DECORATION.

Tug real source of the satisfaction we derive
in the contemplation of architectural decara-
tion exccuted in constructive material, be it
stone or brick, 1s the iden it suggests of the
unton of decorative featnrez with eonstructive
requirements, and the meaning and propricty
which such decoration therehy acquires. It
in truth, nothing more than a tacit seknow-
ledgment, a sort of howage, wmwittingly paid
to the truths and reality of this last great
prineiple of propriety in architeeture, which
requires that art be the haudmaid of necessity,
convenience, and utility,—decuration the dra-
pery of construction, beauty, and preportion,
either in detaill or in mass,—the skiltul and
artistic arrangement of those features which
the purpose of the building demands, or the
constructive framework of the edifice requires;
and it is the absence of this consfruclive neces-
sity and propriety, irrespective of other qualities
which may be disputed, that renders the use
of cement distasteful and unsatisfactory, not
. only to the educated professional eye, but even
‘to the instinct of sound sensc and correct
taste.

It cannot, indeed, he depied that cementis
! purely a decorative and not a constructive
: material, and that this constitutes its real dif-

ference from stone when adopted for orna-
. mental purposes,—that the true and legitimate
; application of architectural ornament is to
i decorate essential members of architectural
! construction, and not to conceal their purpose,

l * To be continued,

INST THE USE OF |
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[Juvxe 15, 1850,

feature : it would be equally economical and i’ ¢The proofs of this fact (fnshion_‘in yrci\itcc:'
Churches were Greeiam, and

ture) abound.
for the last twenty years have been Gothic;
intensely Roman  Catholic.  The sense has
been wanting to understand that we do not
want a Greek temple for the reception of 2
Cryselephantine statue, nor a Roman church
for processions, and a sight only of the cucha-
rist ; but a Protestant auditoriom, suited to the
Anglican ritual, to which great purpose all
form of dress, of whatever order and fashion,
must bend and adapt itseil.”

In the opinions thus expressed by the
learned professor, 1 beliere that many thou-
sands of his countrymen do most cordially
agree.  Without the slightest intention of
making any disparaging remarss on the
labours of those architects who have with so
much care and :kill sought out and given
correct and beautiful illustrations of the struc- |
tures and architectural details of the Middie
Ages, T would respectfully suggest that the
time has now arrived wimn the elfforts so
strenuously made in obtaining intelligence on
these subjects way well be slackened, and the
talents of those gifted individuals be directed
to investigzations which may result in the pro-
duction of novelty, beauty, fitness in destan
of grreater economy, combined with durability
and beauty in the construction of cur build-
ings,—in adapting to the wants of the existing
generation those great discoveries in physical
science, which may, sud vught to, increase so
largely the diffusion of comfort and rational
enjoyment amonget all classes of the com-
munity, and in making vur age and country as
remarkabis for the dissemination of o love of
true o1t amongst the masses of the people, as
it is for an amount of commercial energy and

ugly- Mr. Brandon has four large domes,
producing s picturesque and costly pile: the
circular arrangement is not expedient.——Mr.
Gearing proposes a suspeasion iran-wire tent,
ingeniously ugly.——Mr. C. I1. Smith adopts
the suspension principle in another shape.
Messrs. Turner's proposal we deseribed
at some length before the competition. One
designed by Mons. Thummeloup is Gothie,*
some [dindoo! and some in a mixed style,
amusingly indicative of a desire to do justice
to all times and countries in the same elevation.

The plag, clevations, and sections which we
have engraved of the proposed design (although
pecessarily prepared in haste, that we might
give our readers the advantage of early in-
formation on the subject), will explain them-
selves, and be found in accordance with the
particulars we printed last week.+ The central
entrance will be exactly opposite to the Prince
of Wales’s Gate, in the Kensington-road,
which is obviously desirable. But as this gate
is not ezactly in the centre of the plat of
ground to be covered, the majority of the
competitors seem to have missed this point,
preferzing to keep the building the same length
on each side of the entrance.

The western half of the building will be
devoted to machinery and raw materials ; the
eastern portion to mancfactures and the plastic
arts, to which latter also the great hall is to be
appropriated.  The refreshment places are
amidst the clumps of trees.  In thebrickwark,
externally, some variety of colour will probably
be produced.

of the world.

ages been considered as worthy of our bes
tion, and no small portivn of that indu

atten-
rinus

ON THE PROPRIETY OT TIIE APPLICA-
TION OF CEMENTS,
OR OTHRR ARTIFICIALLY FORMED MATERINLS,
TO THE EXTERIONS O BUILDINGS.Y

ful dwelling, wlich so extensively previils
amongst them.  There was a time when men
cared little whether or not these hotes were
situated in the country, #o that they cuntained
the requisite accommodation for th

I3 is wot, T holieve, because there exists ;
awong our counirymen any lack of mind to
conceive, ar of consirn skill to carry out |
the most gigantic uniertakings, that so eowm- .
paratively small a number of buildings, remark-

time before the introduetion of
velling had heen graduoally legee has since

the development of that  wondrous system
uble for beauty, for ariginality, or for grandeur | almost wholly disappeared ; wad mon of ail
of design, have lately lLeen produced ; but! clayses and conditions, influenced mininly by
partly bezause men's ninds have been directed | the facilities for traveling which sre no:
more tow2rds otlier objvets than the arts; partly | placed within their reach, appear determined
Lecaunse the carclessness of the public, sud the | to find or te build in seme rural district such
unaccountable apathy of the profession, have | habitations for themselves and for their families
allowed a small party to assume the direction | as shall combine, with every provision for
of our art, and to intraduce a movement of | comfort and convenience, ay much of symmetry
1etrogression to the style and fashion of a
former age, which mast, I fear, if not soon !
chacked, prevent, for sume long period
progress aud improveme And is it str
and unaceanatable that architects and uarc
tecture are favoured with so sinall o share of
public conzideralion in the present day, when
it is remembeted that, whilst in almost every-
thing connected with aur social condition,
there has been manifested the strongest deter-
minalion to encourage progress and improve-
ment—those who profess to be the patrous and
supporters of this really great end noble art,
have exhibited an equally strong determination
to go hackwards, to prevent, so far as in them
lies, the introdusiion into the ceclesiastical
cdifices of the ninetcenth century, a single
form or featurc which has not been copicd
from some medizval building, and even to
disfigure the windows of our churches with
such representations of the human form as
were produced by the old glass painters,
because they were unable to give more correct
delineations.

Professor Cockerell, in (I believe) his fifth
lecture of last session, at the Royal Academy,
speeking of the fashions which have prevailed
in architecture, is reported to bave said :—

railway

rd

the means at their disposal will aliow,
all | however, men of various ranks and stations

and are disposed, in many cases, toinecur for
the attainment of this object such an expen-

sary, they are almost invariably wuwilliug o
make any considerabie addition to their outlay

their Louses with stone instead of artificially
formed materialy, or for the introduction of
features which, although generally found in
ancient buildings, are now from changes amd
habits and modes of living, no longer useful.
‘T'hat this fecling, whether right or wrong, does
very extensively prevail, not only ameng the
professional and trading portions of the com-
munity, but that it is also found in many cases
to exist among those who are possessed of high
rank and station, must be well known to many
members of this lustitute.

Now if we admit that a dry, commodions,
and well-arranged house does very materially
assist in promoting the health and happioessof
those who occupy it; that the present cheap
and easy mode of travelling is leading toa very
large increase of private dwellings in the
country; that those by whom these dwellings
are erected, although for the most part anxious
to combine convenience with beauty, will not
consent to any considerable increase of expen-
diture in the employment of natural instead of
artificial materials, when the latter are well

2 Apparentlr =ot in the Usts issued by the Committee. One
"G_umhum of Detigas ™ asisrts that many who seot in
desigme mre 05t pamed in the jists published. We
:‘!! eorrest & !‘x':'nh:: tt_ﬂruiln the list which ;u.:ihnmhn.

los3gm, hooourably mentio t . i
b H.J.kous.’ ned, to Mr, Bouse; it should be

1 These should ba referred ta.

$ Continned from p. 257, ante,

cither for the purpose of building or casing |

enterprise, which stand unrivalied inthe annals
1

The howmes of England have now for many
perseverance, for which our countrymen are |

justly eccebrated, may be atinbuted to the !
desire of possessing a commodions and health: | i

families, !
But thas indifference to pusition, which some
-

and beauty as the talent of their ncehitect and
Whilst, -
Cmy stiention has beei o
" are cagerly bent upon obtaining the unques- |
- tionable advantages of a country residence, i

diture (however lurgel as way be reafly neces- .

i
|
P

castly of pur by

adapted for the required purpose, and possess
both Jduradiiity and brawty ; and that in mag
lacaiities no stone or bricks can be obtaineq
which, of themeelves, are capable of excludip
rain or of r=ssting the destroving influeaces of
frost,— it must. I thick, be also granted, thyt
few subiects can he mote deserving of our best
attention t ey antificiad coverings or sking
whirh aze in many cases really indispensable,
amd might in voothers he most advan.
tageruly employed,

swhich are made against
coverinay on account of the ex.
beinzurred in reparations, and

s of eolourning or puinting,
) it hecause my own
suvineed me thst UF the Tright
plove s oo puinting or colouring
nd that the tonal cost of re-
atezials s of good
wail ey does not
one per cent. on the
v¢ yiars from its con-
periad has elapsed,

penses
1 freqgy

paration when
qralizy and the war's
amount ta aayth

; amid after
that s d

believe
or even a hnndred
1

cly be

durahility and
armed materials
©T linprovements
frafler be obtained, is

pred
adapt ¥
esw, o wh

v liever can be
expenditure of
-uar which that
ain an urtificial
ater freedom

SUTHIUY G
1,0000,
sum represents,
1

i
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from d s much beauty
wnd dura as ran be produced
for e to scdopt the latter,
and r t then act

¢, when
wellings
« whieh are to be
»f England—

ke
called upon e
of wur

1

be ex-
inoan et otz to the
of inters evnmun to the

der
wonts wnd their
arger poition

of thar time, ta rend
asminet thery
npplies of water and e feus accanumo-
tions and eonvenienees which, althongh re-
quired Y wzr, and essentisl

ving of the tenants,

to the )
are yet ound even in the wmost

not i

Ax to the peenhiar §
ar the defecty of the v
fieially-formed mate
af the profession is vo feguont
nat my inteation af this aecision to say mueh.
Phers s, however, one material which can per-
haps senrcely be called . cement according to
the general acceptation of the terin, which

sood desl directed,
and which has been very extensively usel
ander my direetinne, Tt is one with which
wost e fuailiar, wnd 1T oshouid not ven-
tare to offer the few rensarks upon it with
which T am abant to trouble you, 1f 1 dil not
believe that | have had more than ordinary
oppottunities of testing s abilities in
various  wavs, and in remarihly ('xpn?ﬂl
situations. A it is one, morcover, with which
manufacturery of cements have little or :‘.u'.l.n_n;,'
to do, the processes required in its preparation
being extremely simple and inexpensive, whats
ever I may say in favour of its durability and
beauty, wiil nat tend much to the advancerent
of uny particnlar interest. s

This material, wsually known as stucco, 15,
in reality, nothing more than mortar, formed
cither of blue lias lime, ground or siaked, and
mixed with pounded slag, from the smelting
farnaces; or of the grey stone lime, S0
extensively used in London, ground and mixed
with clean, sharp, carefully washed, siliceous
sand, in the proportion of one part of lime to
three parts of saud, excepting for the outer
surface or facing, where nearly equal parts of
lime and sand are generally used. The lime
and sand {whether siliceous or metallic) sh_n}l'[d
be mixed well tagethier, in small quantities,
and applied immediately to the work, which,
in order to insure success, should, in oll cases,
be first well suturated with water. With this

wertivs, the excellences,
artl-

wmortar, formed in either of the two ways which I
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have mentioned, and used by experienced and
skilful workmen, not only may a durable
casing impervious to water be obtained, but
moulgings and enrichments of all kinds can |
be also executed with a sharpness and deli- |
cacy of finish which it is impossible to !
surpass.

In a building which was erected about
seventeen years ago, and occupies a veryi
elevated and exposed site, on the borders
of Hampshire, not far distant from the !
sea — the capitals and bases, and the.
flntiugs of the shafts of the columns (which
were executed in & most masterly inanner, and
with a degree of accuracy and truth, as to en- !
tasis and details, which Ieft nothing to be
desired), remain as yet uninjured. And the
arrises of the fillets between the flutes, even of
those columns which are exposed to the south-
west, without protection of any kind from the
violence of the gales of wind and rain, with
which, from that quarter, we are so often
visited, were, when I saw them about ten
months since, as sharp and perfect as any
which can be formed by the chisel of the
mason.

1 could mention a great number of build-
ings, some of them much larger, and moare
highly decorated, on which the same mate-
rial has been used successfully. But I have
selected this because it was the first of any
magnitude on which I ventured to employ it;
and is, therefore, the oldest work of my own
to which T can refer. Itis true, that a period
of seventeen vears (although much longer than
some of the building stones which have been
used in this country would endure under the
same infuences) offers but a narrow founda-
tion whereon to build a hypothesis as to the
permanent durability of any kind of material.
But we all know that mortar, such as that
which I have mentioned, wiil (if it escape the
trials to which it is subjected far the first few
years, before the induration produced by the
absorption of carhonic acid has made much
progress) continue to increase in hardness, for
a period of which the limits have never yet
been ascertained. I know of one case, where
it was used as an external casing ahout seventy |
years ago, and has now become so hard and
compact as to rendur it wlmost irapossible o
doubt its continued durability. I remember,
too, that about a year and a-half ago, in clear-
ing a site for some new buildings, I bad to
remove a balustrade which had been put up
about fifty years before: the capning of this
balustrade, which had heen executed in Bath
stone, was in a most deplorable and dilapidated
condition; but the halusters {formed of grey
stone lime, and rather fine, but very sharp
siliceous sand’ were, in all respects, quite
sound and perfect, exhibiting not the smallest
approach to decay or disintegration: indeed,
nol}xing but the fact of their being hollow,
which was disclosed on their removal, would
have convinced the workmen that they had
not been carved out of some hard and compact
stone.

Janmes Tioxas KNOWLES.
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7 WO subjects of more than ordi-
nary interest occupied theatten-
tion of the Institute of Archi-
tects on Monday, the 27th ult.,
namely, the presentation of the
rorai medal to Mr. Barry, and the question
;:'.p:'ogress in architecture. Earl De Grey
tock the chair; and Herr Zahn, of Berlin,
who has published some fine illustrations of
t=s Jecorations in Pompeii and Herculaneum,
ard is visiting this country to study its monu-
oents, was introduced to the meeting.

Tue President, when he rose, said, that
discharging an agreeable duty that
Zsvoved on him, he must interpose a few
words about himself. Fifieen times, he be-
“:aved, they had suspended the standing order
Lick provided that the same person should
hoid the offize of president more than two
consecutively, and had named him for
1zat office. He was deeply sensible of the
nt, and could assert, conscientiously,
it as much pleasure in being of ser-
vi2¢ in the capacity of their president as pride
i being elected. His present duty was one
tze pleasantest that could occur to him.
He Lad been instrumental in obtaining her
Maiesty's testimony of goodwill to the profes-
sion and respect for art, in the shape of the
royal medal. He had, at fiest, feared there
would be difficulty in awarding it. Th= pre-
sent was the third presentation; and he must
say he thought the council had up to this time
shown both disinterestedness and discretion.
I'his vear, for the first time, it was conferred
vn one of their own body. Then addressing
Mr. Barry, his lordship said—It gives me great
sitisfaction, Mr. Barry, to present to you this
tesiimony of the good opinion of your profes-
so0al brethren. Your earlier works have
?:eu iong known; but, as a matter of course,
i3 with particular reference to the magnifi-
cznt work you have now in hand for the nation,
b2t this medal is presented to you. Your great
‘:--'édecessor, ‘Wren, laid the first stone and the
«92 stone of St. Paul’s Cathedral. I trust the
same fule may be yours, On that building he
was occupied thirty-four years; you have not
¥ spent haif that time upon yours; and if it
tiol depended on yourself alone, more of it
would already have been done,—the means have
been withkeld, and gifficulties have Leen un-
Gecessarily created. Wren, in his building,
had but one puarpose to consider ; you have the
Lord knows how many; and what he did was
.f'"r people who kuew what they wanted. This
13 l'.lﬂt the case with you; your masters are
legion ; and aumbers of the gentlemen of the
Hﬂlll?e of Commons, when they ask questions,
Pasitively do not know what it is they want.
Tie Westminster Palace is at once the most
difficult and most maguificent work ever at-
tempted. The wants are so varied, and the
:“"5 of supplylag them were so little under-
$100d, when it was commeaced, that the task
'S Most complicated. As one of those ap-
Pointed to overlook the works, I have had
OPportunities of seeing the difficulties in your
P;th aud the way in which you have overcome
them, that others had not. I have the greatest

=

S

pleasure in handing you this testimony of the
approbation of your professional brethren, and
trust you may live long to enjoy the recol-
lection of it.

Mr. Barry said, with evident feeling, he
hoped they would do him the justice to believe
that he was deeply impressed by the honour
which the Institute had conferred on him, and
the manner in which their respected president
had conveyed it. It was difficult for him to
speak; he begged they would imagine the
feelings of pride and gratification such a tes.
fimonial must inspire in him, He felt that he
owed it mainly to his accidental engagement
on the greatest work of modern times. He
was fully sensible of ifs defects as compared
with the wonderful works remaining to us of
the medimval period. These defects proceeded
from want of no anxiety on the subject, no
absence of efforts to do better, but from the
want of time, experienced by all modern
architects, and of that proper frame of mind
to produce with full effect the asthetical de-
velopment of a design, The difficulties thrown
in the way by the executive department, too,
were great, and would be understood by those
whom he addressed. He would consider the
receipt of the royal medal an evidence that he
had not wholly failed in his endeavour to pro-
duce a fine work., Amongst all the honours
which had been conferred on him by foreign
academies and others, he should ever cherish
this as the proudest memorial of bis profes-
sional career.

The hearty cheers which he received om
sitting down, added to Lord de Grey’s remarks,
must have served as a comforting plaster for
any sore caused by the long debate in the
House of Commons on the previous Friday,
when Mr. Oshorne, supported by Sir B. Hall
end Lord Robert Greosvencr, repeated the
attack on Mr, Barry, and werereplied to by the
Chancellor of the Exchequer, Mr. Greene, Sir
V. Clay, and others. Mr. W. Cubitt, too, came
out for the defence, and spoke to the purpose.
He said it was easy enough to estimate the
expense of a plain building, or even of a deco-
rated building in a style which was well known
and practised ; but it was different when, as
in the present case, there was litfle previous
experience of the style of architecture, and no
experience at all with regard to a huilding of
such magnitude. The drawings which were
originally laid before the contractors afforded
no idea of the decorations which had subse-
quently been introduced. As to the question
of how it happened that the building had
become so much more highly decorated than
could originally have been anticipated, he could
say nothing. Buf as one who felt soms regard
for the credit of his couniry, and who was
proud of the honour of o seat in that House,
he begged to say that he thought the country
did well to erect a structure, which was destined
to last for centuries, in the highest style of art
that could possibly be produced; and, from
what he had seen of if, he had no hesitation in
saying that there was no building in Europe
which could bear a comparison with what the
Palace of Westminster would be when finished.
He did not think that a country which was
under the necessity of spending between
50,000,000 or 60,000,000!. a-year, and which
he hoped would be able to afford to spend that
sum, ought to grudge 200,000L or 300,000Z
for ten or twelve years for such a building.

Mr. Barry may think it forfunate that the
indisposition of Lord de Grey led to the pre-
sentation of the medal being postponed till

after the debate in guestion, One of the
64

charges made on that occasion, namely, that
the House will not afford accommodation for
the members, and that, according to Mr. Drum-
mond, “ make what alterations they please, they
must at last knock down one end of it to get
room,” will probably be replied to by Mr,
Barry.

To return, however, to the institute. After
the presentation of the medal, Mr. J, T.
Knowles read 2 paper, announced as “ On the
Application of Cements and other Artificially
Formed Materials, to the Exteriors of Build-
ings,”” in which the writer defended, and
urged, the use of cements for the external
covering and decoration of buildings, main-
taining their superiority over stone in many
positions, for securing a warm, dry, and
healthful habitation, and asserting that the
work of man’s mind, no matter how mean
the medium through which it is expressed,
should be regarded as far more important than
the use of costly materials. A considerable
portion of the paper was devoted to the econ-
demnation in strong terms of the trammels, in
which, as he maintained, architects were kept
by a small non-professional party, and the
system of merely copying the works of the
middle ages. We shall print some portions
of the papers hereafter, and merely say thus
much as to its spirit, to elucidate our notes of
the discussion that ensued.

The first who rose was Mr. Francis, who
expressed his regret that Mr. Kinowles had in-
troduced into a paper on cements, matter
which he must think was not in aceordance
with its title* e must in his turn protest
against the doctrine that had been laid down.
Cements were very useful in their place, but
that was surely no ground from which to
deduce the general assertion that modern
architects, in emulating, or rather as he should
say,endeavouringto catch the spirit of the medi-
wval artists were merely copyists. In the middle
ages, Mr, Knowles had eaid, the architeets of
that day would not go back; the architects of
the thirteenth century did not copy those of the
twelfth, any more than those of the fourteenth
copied them. This was quite true, and it was
because they were thoroughly imbred with all
that had been done, and were following out
the style to move complete development, This
was not the case with us. He could not help
referring to the works of those who were ad-
vancing the “ novelty theory,” which were as
bad, he thought, as anything could be, and
were nevertheless copies. As to the two build-
ings of classical character shown by the lec-
turer,® they did not present a single pilaster,
a single ornament, a single moulding, which
was not copied from ancient examples. He
considered that in our present state we could
not do better than endeavour to ecmulate
the mediaval architects, There seemed no ob-
jection to covering plain surfaces with cement,
but to attempt to introduce it for enrichments
and delicate mouldings, seemed to him moat
erroneous. He trusted that the spread of
science would lead to the discovery of means
of rendering ordinary building stones able to
resist rain, and would conclude by asserting his
conviction, that if a new style is to be formed,
it would not be through the use of cement.

Mr. Scott quite agreed with the last speaker,
He also agreed, he said, with Mr. Knowles in
the belicf that we were in shackles,—but these
were the shackles of knowing too many styles

* Mr. Knowles has since informed us that the title of the
paper should have been given, as ** On the prapricty of the
application of Cements, or other artificially formed Mate-
rials, to the exteriors of Buildings.*!

1 Exhibited simply as views of early works in cement.
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cross stuck over the entrance-door i
gable, the same pondescript lonkin}; E,:uz:?
plainly showiog by its mannerism, to the Jaag
initiated, the adoption by the Commission i
that wholesale system of designing so u.nwigu
50 ﬁnanisl:icbmd 50 unjust, o
ad the Commissioners acted with «
for the glory of God and the g:zl:thofzte]:i
church”—had they acted justly towards the
! profession, they would have given o the
| young an'd struggling artists that are now o
be found in the land opportunities of designin
these churches, which would, under emu]atirgg
enthusiasm, have arisen in beauty and har.
mony to gem the green valleys, romantjc
glens, and sunny hill-sides of our island,

I shall not now stretch this article to g
greater length, I shall return to the subject
by taking up the Poor Law Commission, the
national and agricultural schools, and other
fields of architectural practice, which are also
as complete monopolies as that alluded to
above. Tax Cerr,

THE COMMON CATE.\I.-&-RY AND
NAPIER'S LOGARITHMS,
F Tue N E

LeT the tangent AB represent the lenglh
and weight of the chain, the radius BC the
constant horizontal tension; then the secant
AC represents the tension at the points of
support.

Make CD equal to CB.  Upon CR produced
set off BE equal to AD. Make AF = BE,
FE = AB, HG = AT, HB = GE, BJ=H]I,
HK=BJ, KI=HB, JL = HB, GN = XL,
and aB = NE,

Repeat the operations with respect to the

point a. Draw OLplQ. Make QR = twice
%e, RS = twice pe, PS = RE, and PE=RS,
raw

T, making TE = twice Te and
TQ = gﬂE i
Now imagine the secants AC and aC first to
coineide with the radius BC, then to incresse
together continuously, the lines PE and pe also
to increase together continuously from the zero
point B, the points P and p to trace the curve
BP and the portion Bp in the same time; the
curve so conceived to be generated is called
the common catenary, and is the line of equi-
librium of an ordinary chain. The lines PE
and pe, the radius Bé being unity, are the
h{perbolic logarithms of AB + AC and
al} + aC, for by the construction PEis to pe 83
two to one, and AB 4+ ACistoaB 4 aCus
a square to its side, or as a numeral to its
square root. .

The lines GE and LJ indicate the position
of the point P,

JLPW.

e —————
CLASSIC ORDERS IN ROMAN CEMEXNT.

MAax1roLD are the opinions afloat amongst
the cog i on the subject of materialism
in construction, and with so much sounding
if not sound, reasoning are they asserted, that
it is hard to withhold acquiescence in the
theory of cach successive disputant. One &a7%
it is uncandid to portray the articulations
masonry in a plastic and sham superficiess
another that it is dishonest; and a third that it
is an outrage on Bath stone and Inigo Jones!
whilst a fourth avers that the tracery and o7
nameatation are meagre and deficicnt of that
sharpness which the accuracy of the chiselle

Vor VIII.—No. 387.]
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gtone always exhibits ; but all admit that the

neral eharacter of street ar_chi:ecture_ and the
especial merits of sqburhan villa elevation have
been wondrously improved by the innova-

n.

“o;\'ow, to ordinary ohservers, this latter result
pears with it a strong argument in excuse of
the sham.

The cheapness of cement, its great durability,
if good, the boundless varicty of beautiful maodel
castings, the facility and celen?' of progress in
the finish, give to this mode of accomplishing
a fair and finished cnticle an advantage in this
our age of cconomg' and utility. What signifies
it to the visual pbserver of an elevation how
many blocks_go to the formation of an arch?
or whether the projecting griffin in the key-
stone, or the monk in prayer lolling out his
tongue, be_ really graven on & block which
traverses the paries, or is only the mask
of piety in plasteri As to the assertion
that the sharpness of outline may be deficient
in the latter as compared to cunningly-wrought
stone, the point may be conceded ; but at the
respectful distance of some thirty feet, the
optics of ordinary observers can hardly perceive
the difference, and serg it not for the honest
complexion of the genuine stone as_compared
to the washy superficies of the mimic casting,
even this would be a difference without 2 dis-
tinetion.  But at the same time the superiority
of stong for ornamentation is of course freely
allowed.

For private buildinge, however, where the
outlay is the paramount object, no one can
question the fact, that the prevalent taste for
diversity of style is greatly aided hy the new
and, if 'you will, the simnlated plastic repre-
sentative of stone. Look at Regent-street, the
first innovation on the quarry—look at the
terraces in Regent’s park—examine St. John's
Wood, snd all the “ alentours” of London, and
then censider well before you pronounce a
sweeping denunciation of dishonest imitations
of the solid and the graceful.

Had we been linited to Bath, Portland, and
Caen stone, where would have been our street
architecture ? where our entablatures, friezes,
columniations? Should we not have yet had
to gaze with saddened reflections on new Har-
les-streets, Gloucester-places, and Portland-
places, instead of a Westhourne-terrace, a
Carlton-terrace, Queen’s-road, Notting-hill, and
various other diverse, if fantastic, achievements,
which relieve the monotony and dulness to
which the wandering Oppidan was doomed,
whosedreary meanderings werz erstwhilelimited
to a2 migratiop from Finsbury to Montague
squares ?

Of performances in gimulation of stone, in-
stance might be made of an example between
Coventry-street and Leicester-square, and to
another and very different variety in edification
which has lately sprung up in’ the Regent’s-
park, at the foot of Primrose-hill, namely, a
terrace, as yet anonymous, but designed by
Mr. Moore. Such perfarmances are of infinite
use in every point of view: like a new Hower
to the horlicullurist, they give foad to faney,
and offer to the propagators of the mystery
another specimen from which the chances of
Elimrsity, both in form and colour, may be
improved ad infinitum.

ut all this hag pothing to plead for the in-
tegrity of art.  Granted : plaster is not stong,
though it looks something like it. Yet what-
ever your structure, if it be solid and enduring,
it is surely entisled to indulgence, As yet, we
perceive no symptoms of decay in those
epecimens of gement which have heen
erected twenty-five years back. Can we say so
much for Bath stong? I fear not. It is not
necessary, nor perhaps fair, to request a lover
of the quarry to cast a glance atthe oft-renewed
but mouldering tracery of the Oxford Colleges,
or to view the delicate elaboration of Henry
the Seventh’s Chapel, Westminster: ab the
game time these heing public buildings, the
cost of material is of little moment.

Private residenges are not built nor ealeulated
1o endure for ages; the transitory limit of
leases (at most seventy-seven years) forbids
this; therefore the cheaper the cost of con-
struction the better, and any, the worst
cement,will endure for such an interest ;—please
‘the district-surveyor as to required and legalized
solidity ; but above all, please the public taste
by diverging from rectilinear solidity, and hy
creating (although without the privilege of a

curve) sume novelty that may impart an un-
thought idea, and impress varicty on him
who wanders through quadrangles.

As to the observations so arlistically treated
about styles, by your correspondent who al-
leges that “man is an imitative animal, that
he copies the models of his ancestors, that he
anly can adhere to or mix the old orders, that
he has not geniug to invent anything new,”
&c., &c., that may be all good theory, but it is
Greek to me.

What can it signify what he mixes, if the
amalgam be gpod and pleasing? Construc-
tion altogether originated from material cir-
cnmstances, that is, from the materials ori-
ginally used, and from their adaptation to the
nses of man ; the column only represents the
tree—the projection the traverse timber, &c.

That the inhabitants of various regions
shonld have peculiar characteristics in com-
binatjon is also natural; for the requirements
of climate dictate the form, and the products
of the region prescribe the material.  The
Laplander burrows underground, the Indian
Elnaters his wigwam—as the swallow sticks

is nest against a wall, the wren weaves a
rotunda, and the Builder-bird hangs hers from
a righteous branch.

Sg:rict adherence to first principles in art
would be a elog on genius, and an obstruction
to progress. Let us dismiss the scioliats, and
go a-head in design,

If the combination of stone, brick, slate,
tile, iron, and coment can he effected together
with unity of colour, that unity without which
{despite the Church of Sienna) no design is
complete—then, I say, mix them. But above
all, in street architecture, these combinations
and the use of cement seem now indispensable;
for, as the Irish bricklayer said, * Boys, our
leases are short, so cement for ever.”

QuoxDaM,

SOME THOUGHTS ABOUT 1851.
MANUFACTURERS TO wonk !

WitHouT any preparatory essay to test our
own capabilities, in the fulness of our magna-
uimity, or rather rash confidence bordering on
swagger, we have challenged competition with
all the world !

You said, and it has been repeated all over
the country, “ In the first round England has
pone down.”*

After the failure of 245 competitors in the
desiygn for the building, this section of the
Royal Commission, comprising the architects
and enuineers among them, has issued a de-
sign and plan to be acted upon. It would be
curious to learn, since it is sent into the world
anonymously, who is really the architeet, if
any, who will eventyally own the paternity of
this proposed edifice, or if it will fall to the lat
of some at present mysterious unknown to
answer for its sins, and receive at the winding
up the honorary distinctign of baving swamped
the 243 competitors.

There can be no doubt but that the Exhi-
bition must take place, and every probability
of a monstrous dome being erected in the
centre of the building. This feature of it, the
size of which was first made appreciable by
you, has spread alarm far and wide, lost the
colossal structure should hecome permanent
in Hyde-park. Public clamour will not suffer
it to remain ; and it may be asked what shall
be done with it afterwards? T venture to sug-
gest that it form a modification of Professor
Hosking's proposition to enlarge the British
Museum, by heing re-erected in the inner
quadrangle, If Government would engage to
purchase it for this purpose, a great relief will
be given to the pressure on the subscription
made for the Exposition; the funds of which,
at the present moment, scarcely justify the
cnormous outlay said to be required for the
huilding alone.” It would also be satisfactory,
before contracts are made for double the
amount of the money in hand, and be but just
towards present and future subseribers, to
publish at the present time a balance-sheet,
stating the amount already received in cash,
the amount subscribed and not paid in, and
on the other side the amount cngaged to be
paid in salaries, the expenses of the commis-

sion, &e. It will then be seen what we really

* Tk is, ghe was let down.—ED,
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A Local Industry: Blackborough Whetstones

s .
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In the 4™ Earl of Egremont’s day, the village of Blackborough was home to a
highly specialized and localized industry. Travelers on the main Exeter to Honiton
road would see a long white horizontal line on the hills to the North-East. This
white line was the spoil from the mineshafts of the Blackborough whetstone
miners. Whetstones are used for sharpening edge tools. One stratum of the
greensand cap of the Blackdown Hills held stone of just the right lightweight
porous composition and abrasive surface for whetstones, known as Devonshire
'batts'. Mines were driven horizontally into the hill for up to 400 metres. Dug by
hand, they had to be "braced and propped for their full length, every inch" with
precious hedge and coppice timber. The tunnels were lit by candlelight, narrow at
the entrance and widened and heightened further inside, so that two men with
barrows could pass. Cross galleries were dug to extract more stones and in the
latter stages of production the mines had lockable doors to prevent pillaging.
Caverns could be up to 6 metres high and 40 metres wide. When an area was

completely worked out, the whole excavation was allowed to fall in.
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Pieces of greensand the size of a horse's head were brought out and worked on
the spot. The stone was greenish and moist and could be worked with a unique
double-headed tool called a basing axe, made locally in Kentisbeare. After rough
shaping, the stones were brought down to the village to be hewn to their final
dimensions of about 30 centimetres in length. They were then rubbed down in
hot water by women on a large stone of the same material. When dried they

were ready for sale.

The stones were mainly used to sharpen the blades of scythes and sickles, used
to harvest cereal crops. A farm labourer could get through two or three a day in
harvest time as they often broke and were useless unless complete. A scythe in

use needed sharpening as often as every quarter of an hour.

Loads of stones were taken to the ports of Topsham and Bridgwater to be
shipped to London, the Midlands and South coast ports, and on to destinations as
far as South Africa and Australia. Many were sold locally at an annual
Scythestone Fair held in May or June in Waterbeer Street, Exeter. The hill folk
rose early, taking their loads by ass or pony, or in carts. There was an old proverb
in Exeter: "All over in ten minutes like Scythestone Fair". Many people would
arrive too late to see the hardy families selling their wares by five or six o'clock in
the morning. They returned to Blackborough laden with groceries, and then, as
they reached the foot of the hill, filled their panniers with good earth for their

gardens on the greensand.

Remains of the mines can still be seen on the Blackdown Hills, overgrown, yet

still evocative of a lost industry.
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Silverton Park Stables before work began.
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Silverton Park Stables in context

The stable block at Silverton Park followed the tradition of the eighteenth
century, by when stable blocks associated with a country house had become
separate incidents in the landscape. By the early nineteenth century, arrangement
around a central courtyard had also become typical. With hindsight, the Georgian
guadrangle stable (of which the stable at Silverton Park is the direct descendant)
can easily taken for granted, but in fact the design marked a clear transition from
that of earlier stables, which were more likely to be attached to the main house.
Architectural historian Giles Worsley, who wrote so eloquently about stables in
his The British Stable, called the Georgian stable ‘among the most beautifully
conceived of all English buildings; crisp, compact, to the point. Often the work of
a leading architect, it is a concentrated gem that often serves to put the house it
serves to shame.’ It is a statement that could equally be applied to Knowles’

work at Silverton Park.

With its whiff of Classicism, the stable block at Silverton Park represents the
merest, most final echo of the Palladian design that had dominated British
architecture through the eighteenth century. Its impact comes as much from its
sheer size as from the symmetry of its (pseudo) porticoes. In fact, such
guadrangular stables were not so much neo-Palladian as positively anti-Palladian.
In his Quattro Libri dell’Architettura Palladio had recommended that stables
should be placed in symmetrical wings spreading away from the house, as had
become the fashion in England in the latter part of the seventeenth century.
Quadrangle stables had existed earlier, but almost exclusively only for royal
patrons. The first person to break with the (at that date, somewhat
coincidentally) Palladian approach for stable ranges flanking the main house was
Sir Robert Walpole at Houghton Hall in the 1720s. His first stable block there,
probably designed by Colen Campbell and published in his Vitruvius Britannicus,
was the first quadrangle stables and only marginal smaller than the house itself.
They blocked a key vista, Walpole decided, and therefore demolished them in
1732, but their replacement by William Kent also followed a quadrangular plan. It

was undoubtedly such palatial stable blocks that the 4™ Earl and his architect set
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out to emulate at Silverton Park (Interestingly, though probably coincidentally, the
National Trust guidebook for Petworth House cites Holkham as the key influence
on the 2™ Earl of Egremont’s development of Petworth, under the guidance of
Holkham’s owner, Thomas Coke 1° Earl of Leicester and great friend of the 2™

Earl.)

Houghton Hall, with stables (1732) on the left (top) and a view of the stable
yard.

Keen horsemen would visit their stables regularly and display was still an
important element of design. The scale of stables and coach houses had long
reflected the wealth of their owner and the scale of the house to which they
belonged. The provision of stables at Silverton Park was therefore an essential
part of the architect’s brief. Similarly, the contractor was probably the same as

the one who built the house, W H J Hooper.
70



Silverton Park Stables History Album

A stable block was much more than simple provision of equine accommodation. It
also included tackrooms and rooms for the grooms and other servants, carriage
showrooms and provision for maintenance of the vehicles. A block such as that
at Silverton Park would have held a range of vehicles, for use depending on the
occasion and number of people to be transported — troikas, gigs, phaetons, traps,
coaches. Nor should the maintenance and care required by the carriages and their
teams be underestimated. Carriages, especially coaches, required intensive

ongoing maintenance and good storage conditions.

Care of Carriages

Coachbuilders of the 19™ century considered that a carriage required as much
care as the furniture in a drawing room and that no gentleman should keep his
vehicle anywhere that he would not place his wardrobe. The ideal carriage house
was to be kept at a moderate temperature similar to that at which the vehicle
was constructed. The wooden parts of a vehicle were affected by their storage
conditions: if the building was too hot and dry, the wood would shrink and cracks
appear; if too damp, wood would swell and iron and steel rust. Rust would also
attack if paint chipped from metal surfaces, and spread beneath adjacent paint
surfaces. In a damp coach house, brown rust lines appeared between the plates

of the springs, and brass and other metal fittings soon tarnished.
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The hoods of vehicles were to be kept up and regularly oiled to prevent cracking,
as were other leather attachments such as braces and cushion straps. Axles and
wheel plates needed greasing at regular intervals according to the mileage
covered. Cushions and soft trimmings attracted moths, and it was usual to use
cedar shavings and a rubber cloth to deter them. Cedar shavings might even be
added to the stuffing of cushions to protect them. Vehicles were not be kept near
stables or manure heaps, since the gases emitted were harmful to varnish and
could cause it to crack. It was advised that carriages were not left by a window
or open door, or exposed to the direct rays of the sun. As described in more
detail below, all these tenets are dealt with in the provision for carriages at

Silverton Park.

And after every time it was used, the carriage was to be liberally hosed down to
remove mud and grit, leather parts being kept as dry as possible. The vehicle was
then dried by hand with a chamois leather, taking care not to get oil from the
shackles and wheel plate onto the chamois. The wheels were also hosed, as this

prevented any shrinkage to their wooden frames within the iron bands.

Given his extravagance in all other directions, we may safely assume that the 4th
Earl of Egremont delighted in his carriages and perhaps especially his coaches,
which no doubt bore his coat of arms. We know his widow continued to drive in
a yellow coach long after his death. The Earl was building at the tail end of ‘The
Golden Age of Coaching,” during which coaches had benefited from the road
improvements arising from toll charging through the turnpike system. After about
1840, the advent of the railways led to a slow decline in coach travel, and indeed
in 1842, the railway arrived at Taunton, reducing the journey time from London
to Exeter from twenty four hours to twelve. It somehow seems typical of the 4th
Earl that he should build his monumental stable block just as long distance coach

travel was going out of vogue.
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The Design of the Stable Block

This was also the age of the pattern book, and it seems likely that Knowles
would have turned to them for advice on this rather specialised structure, and
one of which there is no evidence that he had prior experience. One such pattern

book is George Tattersall’s Sporting Architecture (1841).

Tattersall was a surveyor, and in his view, ‘Of all the various departments of the
builder’s art, none has so suffered from the carelessness or prejudices of ages, as
that which gives the title to this Treatise....It is only by a close and intimate
acquaintance with the nature and the habits of the animal that the designer of a
dwelling for the dumb creation can succeed in rendering it such as may be the
most conducive to their comfort, which carries with it what is even more of

consequence, their health.’

He gives various pieces of advice for the construction of stables, useful for
architects who might not have encountered grand stables themselves:

‘The atmosphere of the Box is even, pure, and mild. The whitened walls
untainted with the usual stains of closeness, or of damp. The place is, in
short, healthy.” (p 10)

Tattersall recommends apertures in the roof to allow air circulation through the
stall boxes without draughts, just as we find in the north range.
As for the Straw Yard:

‘The Yard should be laid with gravel, on concrete, or on hard core, sloping
towards a drain or dung-pit in the centre; and so well covered with litter,
as to afford a soft and pleasant footing to its unshod occupants, and to
complete the proper comfort and convenience of the Straw Yard.’(p 25)
Despite the existence of such pattern books, there is some evidence that the Earl
and his architect had to make up the disposition of actual accommodation in their
monumental block as they went along, so that windows that turned out to be
part of stabling were subsequently blocked. Although one of the first-floor sashes

was found to be dated July 1839 - suggesting the building was almost ready by

then — the stables were still awaiting their cement render and decoration at the
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Earl’s death in 1845, even though they must have been in use for some time.
One small surviving section of completed cement rendered cornice suggests
either a trial or that this process had already started when it was brought to a

halt.

Only a few items in the buildings accounts can be unequivocally attributed to
work on the stables. None of these are later than 1840, when the smith
submitted a bill for ‘work to Mansion House and Stables Buildings’ including

‘141 ton 13cwt Cast Iron Girders including Carriage Hoisting at £16 per ton -
£2,266 8s.’” The stables had brass door furniture, but these were not the door
knobs and the item may relate to the tethering rings. Another significant item was
for ‘365 ft of 3 inch framed, braced, battened and solid boarded folding doors to
the coach house £54 16s 4d.” As described below, these massive doors were to
shut off the coach house in the southern pile of the south range from the

courtyard side, safe from the noxious fumes of effluent.

One of the biggest mysteries about the stable block is why it was built with so
much accommodation (and mostly heated by their own fireplaces) when fewer
than twenty horses can have been stabled there. Grooms and stable boys were
traditionally towards the bottom of the hierarchy, and were often expected to
sleep on straw pallets in crowded and communal conditions close to their
charges. The very large open space above the coach house (see below) may have
been such a space. The living accommodation in the stable block may well have
been intended to house other workers and officials on the estate — or may never
have got that far. The relevant census returns are frustratingly silent for the
stable block, and tell us little more about the mansion itself. In 1841, the only
return available during the 4™ Earl’s lifetime, the Earl and Countess are elsewhere
on census night. Housekeeper Sarah Liddon and seven housemaids seem the only
likely residents in the mansion on that night. Gamekeeper William Jeffrey and his
wife and servant, gardener Roland Job (and wife), builder Thomas Clark (and
wife) and three agricultural labourers are also listed under the general heading
‘Silverton Park’, but presumably lived elsewhere on the estate. A listing for the
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estate does not come up for the 1851 or 1861 returns; in 1871 housekeeper
Anne Thurslow and three male and three female servants are listed. In none of

the returns are the stable block or stable staff mentioned specifically.

After the Earl’s death, the stables seem still to have been used at least
intermittently by the Earl’s widow, who arrived every year in her yellow coach to
spend a few months in the house. Neither the stables nor their contents were
included in the 1892 sale, suggesting that the stable block was under separate
lease by then. Nikolaus Pevsner, in a rare error and clearly not in touch with John
Summerson, mistook the stables for Silverton Park itself in the 1952 first edition
of The Buildings of Britain: South Devon, describing it as ‘in a severely Grecian

style and now falling into a not unpicturesque ruin.’

The stables passed into agricultural use and latterly, the southeast section was

used as a farmhouse by the farmer Bernard Hawkins and his wife.
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The stables in the 1980s, still in use as a farm. The north portico has been
taken down, as has the parapet on this north range, with corrugated iron
providing replacement cover. The farmhouse was in the south east corner

(below).
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The south elevation before work began.
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Ground floor plan in 1988, soon after Landmark’s
acquisition of Silverton Park Stables
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Naming of parts — a quick refresher

THE PARTS OF CLASSICAL ARCHITECTURE _
After Andrea Palladio’s drawing of the Temple of Jupiter Stator, Rome

1. Pediment 6. Architrave

2. Entablature 7. Capital (Corinthian)
3. Column 8. Shaft (fluted)

4. Cornice 9. Base

5. Frieze 10. Tympanum

Note: As shorthand, the central, pedimented blocks in each elevation of Silverton
Park Stables are referred to in this album as ‘porticos.’ Purists may jib, since a
true portico is defined as ‘a roofed space, open or partly enclosed, forming the
entrance or centerpiece of a facade of a temple, house or church, often with
detached or attached columns and a pediment.’
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Floorplan of Silverton Park Stables (NB: scheme not quite as finally built. — final
plan is shown on page 102).
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Building Description and Restoration

The Early Stages

Silverton Stables was one of the last buildings acquired by Sir John Smith for the
Landmark Trust, before Sir John stood down from the charity in 1990 (the other
late acquisition was the Villa Saraceno, to which Silverton Park Stables making an
interesting counterpoint). At the time, the stable block was in danger of being
snapped up for conversion into four residential units, for which planning
permission had been granted. Sir John felt that this would not be an appropriate
fate for this monumental building. At that time, support from The Manifold Trust
enabled a speed of action no longer possible for Landmark today, and so
Landmark was able to acquire the building. Sir John had a vision for a nationwide
network of Landmarks in stables, in which horses too could be brought to join the
holiday. Nothing would come of this, although it remains a point of reference at

times as we consider potential projects.

Sir John asked Philip Jebb, perhaps his favourite architect, to come up with a
scheme. This scheme would have presented the building in a rather formal way,
as almost a country house in appearance, as if to replace the lost mansion. Philip
Ford and his team, who worked on many Landmarks in the 1980s, were all lined
up to start work but then it was decided to start instead with 28 South Street,
Torrington, acquired in 1989. Silverton was used for storing materials and a very
limited amount of work was done to make it secure, including replacement
entrance doors. South Street was expected to be a short project, but in the event
it took six years to complete and did not open as a Landmark until 1998. By then,
Sir John had long since stood back from involvement with Landmark, and Philip

Jebb had sadly died in 1995. A clean slate was called for.

We would puzzle for many years over how best to convert this huge building to
Landmark accommodation, or indeed to any practicable new use. An even more
intractable problem was how to fund the work now that the Manifold Trust was

no longer a source. The stables are listed Grade Il, a listing status that placed it
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outside most statutory grant aid. The funding possibilities and dead ends took up
even more time — an application for increasing the building’s status to Grade II*
was considered; so too was enabling development by applying for planning
permission to build a house on the site of the old mansion. Such schemes came

to nothing, but we all felt we owed it to Sir John to come up with a solution.

In the end, the deadlock was broken by a donation from a particularly loyal
supporter, who in 2005 made an initial gift to get the project started. Knowing
that the budget would be even tighter than normal, we decided to manage the
project in-house, overseen by Landmark’s surveyors and with Reg Lo-Vel as site

manager, managing local sub-contractors for the work.

By this time, the Jebb scheme, which involved both breaching and partitioning
the original floorplan and the addition of features for which there was no historic
evidence, had come to seem rather interventionist (and expensive) according to
today’s conservation approach, and so the current scheme evolved instead.
Architect Allan Konya, who had worked with Philip Jebb on his scheme, was also
retained and Allan played a constant and patient role over the years, providing

numerous drawings for the different ideas as they evolved.

It was decided that the Landmark accommodation should be mainly in the sunny
southern pile of the south range. The size of the Landmark evolved as work went
on: we felt that the whole building was too big to convert and let satisfactorily as
a Landmark, and initially planned to create a Landmark for ten, leaving the rest
weathertight but unrestored. As the project proceeded, accommodation
eventually increased to the current configuration for fourteen, although parts of
the interior of the north range remain unrestored, to allow a flavour of the

atmosphere of the original purpose to remain.
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The courtyard in November 2005.
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Initial Works On-Site

The eventual scheme respects the original layout much more closely than the
Jebb scheme and, while less grand, we felt it would remain truer to the original
character of the building. Initially, we expected to repair the building in ‘zones’,
concentrating first on the south range, where we hoped to get a Landmark up
and running, even if the rest of the building was left to be repaired at a later date.
In the event, perhaps as our donor hoped and only due to his careful, generous
and timely support, the project developed its own momentum. Other donors
began to support the effort and it became unthinkable not to continue on site and

finish the entire structure.

The essential first phase was simply to get the building watertight. The whole
stable block was scaffolded in autumn 2004. As many slates as possible were
salvaged and used for the visible slopes of the roof facing the courtyard. The less
visible slopes were covered with perfectly serviceable modern Spanish slates
salvaged from another Landmark, The Grange in Ramsgate, where they were
inappropriate. Terne-coated stainless steel was used for the flat roof areas, and
the same material allowed much longer runs of guttering than the series of steps
that leadwork would have required. New cast iron guttering and hoppers were

installed and painted Brunswick Green, as found on a fragment of entrance door

beneath a floor slab.

Repairing decayed brickwork in the
southwest corner, Nov 2005
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View southwest across the south range in March 2005. The roof of the south
range is curious in design. A valley roof might be expected of its double pile;
instead, the roof running back from the portico is almost flat.

Graffiti in a ground floor room.
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The east elevation scaffolded, with work going on to the cornice.

An obvious decision to be made early in the restoration project was whether to
instate a render of some kind, which involved considerable debate among the
Landmark project team and Trustees. The eventual decision not to render was
based upon several considerations. Perhaps first and foremost were aesthetic and
philosophical objections. It would be impossible to render the entire building
without speculation, since we did not know what the Earl and his architect had
intended in terms of colour or decoration. Rendering the building would certainly
have ‘tidied it up’ — but equally, the building had stood unfinished for the whole
of its life, and to render it now would reduce its interest as a historic survival
whose history can be read in its fabric. Rendering it would also have risked
making it appear as some kind of ‘dower house’, rather than the essentially
utilitarian building it was intended to be. The passage of time had also given the

brickwork a certain majesty in its current state.

There were technical reservations too. Today, using a hard cement render such
as Knowles had advocated over the much softer bricks and rubble stone would be

considered ill-advised, since inevitable cracking of such a rigid covering would
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allow water ingress and consequent hidden damage to the fabric behind. A
permeable lime render would have overcome these concerns to an extent, but
would have been very expensive to execute and then to maintain on such a huge

building.

So eventually, it was agreed to leave the stable block unrendered, but to take the
opportunity of having scaffolded the building to tie the whole together visually by
re-rendering the cornice frieze in hydraulic lime (the one portion that had originally
been rendered before work ceased), taking the small section of primary cement

render as reference.

Surviving render at cornice level on the parapet on the
south elevation - the famous patented metallic cement.

Mortar analysis showed that the binder was indeed Blue Lias hydraulic lime, with
little evidence of an additional pozzolanic (hardening) reaction between the lime
and the aggregate, which was found to be copper slag. This aggregate was the
patented metallic part of the mix, consisting of quartz, grey ‘slag’ particles and
powder and ‘often rounded particles of various geological types.” All in all, the

patented metallic cement turned out to be a fairly standard hydraulic lime mix.
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The painstaking task of rendering the cornice was done by brothers Alan and
Stan Flood of Plastercraft, a small local firm from Bristol specialising in such
things. Traces of limewash were also found on sections of the external walls,

probably dating from the block’s later, agricultural use.

Alan and Stan Flood running in the parapet cornice. The former used is
known as a ‘horse’.

Having decided not to render the entire building, however, we were left with the
fact that the rubblestone portions especially were often badly weathered, and
differing materials happily juxtaposed without much thought, in expectation of
the metallic render. Where straight edges were required, around door- and
window-openings, bricks had been used, and where several openings were close
enough together, the whole section had been built in brick, using hand-made reds
fired, we can infer from the building accounts, in temporary clamps on the estate.
Bricks, often chopped back to a rough profile, and roofing tiles were also used as
the bases for the intended decorative motifs of the metallic cement. These can be
seen in the entablatures and parapets, and also the pediments, where perhaps,
until money began to be tight, Classical scenes moulded by the Earl’s Italian
craftsmen were intended, similar to those on the main house. The whole

presented a patchwork in varying states of preservation.
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Following a report by a masonry consultant, David Ogers, the walls were gently

worked over to remove loose and friable material and repointed where necessary.

In the early 1990s, Landmark had acquired over eighty pallets of handmade

bricks in anticipation of the repairs, which had been stored on site for more than
a decade. They were a reasonable match for the 19"-century soft reds, and the
majority were used up during the restoration, especially on the rebuilding of the

northern parapets.

Having described these global works, what now follows is a description of the
building and our restoration of it by range, for those who are interested, perhaps

suitable to accompany a tour of the building.

The stables are built into the upper portion of a south-facing slope, a position
which would have involved some landscaping to create a level surface. Purely for
visual effect, the parapet rises quite high above the utilitarian pitched and hipped
roofs of the stable ranges. The profile of the building was treated to appear, once
rendered, as if it were masonry, stepping up at the corners and echoing the
design of the mansion. This implication of masonry by using render over
brickwork is, of course, pure Palladio, if you substitute /infonaco (the local ltalian

thin, non-hydraulic lime render) for patented metallic cement.
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The South Range - exterior

s |_r.-\_ U "'*:1‘,_ : ; e s

The south elevation. It was in the two large, central, south facing
rooms, shaded by the portico that the Earl of Egremont would have
stored and displayed his carriages. The blocked windows were always
blind (the central one has now been unblocked). The wall between the
outer two rooms has been removed to form the large sitting/dining
room, with kitchen leading off. The later farm buildings below the
portico have now been removed.

Largest and most impressive of the four elevations, the double-pile south range
was clearly designed as the show front, to be seen from, and look down towards,
the mansion below. This also made it the obvious range for the Earl to house his
carriages, on an elevated level with a hint of the piano nobile about it, above
implicitly rusticate storage or agricultural spaces below. The height and emphasis
of this range is intensified still further because it projects forward from the west

and east ranges and by its tall portico, which projects still further.

The square brick columns of the portico look rather skinny, but are of course
missing the render that would have corrected these proportions and formed their
capitals. Their exposure to the elements meant they had weathered badly and
many of the bricks needed replacing — a very delicate operation given the weight
of masonry above. There are shallow set-backs around the top of each column,
presumably to take these capitals (and what classical Order would Knowles have

chosen, we may ponder, for his coach house? Probably Corinthian!)
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The preparatory bedding for the cement mouldings can similarly be seen for the

architrave of the entablature, the base of the cornice and the triangular pediment.

During the later agricultural phase, a sash under the portico was crudely

remodelled and two smaller window inserted, one immediately to the right of the
protico with no regard to symmetry. The original design has been reinstated. We
also opened up the formerly blind central window with a sash window to allow a
slight rearrangement of the interior, and reinstated the formerly blind window on

the right of the portico.

The south portico was found to be spreading sideways and apart, generating real
concern about its structural stability. After advice from Professor Bill Harvey,
metal ties were introduced, concealed above the timber soffit. The roof timbers
on the south range and indeed across the entire building were found to be
suffering badly from rot. All the slate roofs on the south range had to be fully

reconstructed and re-covered using saved slates wherever possible.

Along the front of the south elevation were the remains of a roughly symmetrical,
single-storey lean-to range. Built out of local rubblestone, it was clearly a later

addition and has been removed, as has a smaller timber addition to the west.

The courtyard elevation of the south range is mostly of brick because of the
width of its primary openings. It is nearly symmetrical, with four tall carriage
openings in the centre, which then led, probably through the large folding doors
mentioned in the building accounts, into the two-roomed carriage house beyond
in the south pile. The carriages would have been cleaned and maintained in this
courtyard pile, before being wheeled through once clean into the carriage house
beyond. When used as farm buildings one courtyard carriage opening had been
partly infilled with timberwork and a doorway, and the other three had been
permanently bricked up in fairly recent years. These alterations we have reversed,
and we have put back four pairs of carriage doors to the original design based on

a surviving section found on site.
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Courtyard side of the south range before work began, showing how the
doorways into the carriage houses had been bricked up.

The granite thresholds of the carriage houses on this south side of the courtyard
are significantly higher than the courtyard’s present level, the result of the ground
having been made up on this side of the site and then subsiding — with such a
differential, the building would soon have been unusable to store carriages or any

other, later vehicles, which may explain why the doorways were bricked up.
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Brickwork repairs to the north
elevation, external face. Here a
blind window is being re-filled.
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The South Range — interior

The basement level only extends under the central portion of the range and was
only ever accessible externally from the south, its northern wall acting as a
revetment against the slope. Originally, they would have provided shelter for
cattle and storage. Later farm buildings built against the basement floor have

been removed.

The ground floor was originally divided into four bays by brick cross walls running
across both piles of the range. On the courtyard side, a floor surface of axial
dwarf walls supported stone slabs, some of which were removed and replaced
with concrete in the agricultural phase. On the southern side of the range, the
original floors were timber, of tongue and grooved boards. This was to provide
the optimum conditions for carriage storage, since rust would soon attack iron-
rimmed wheels on a damp stone floor. The floorboards had rotted badly by the

time work began.

New floorboards were found from an unusual source: salvaged from the London
docks, they were pitch pine baulk timbers, used to prevent ships from bumping
against the quay side. They were massive and broad in profile, so suitably chunky
for such a building, but even when they had been cut down into planks, a lot of
staining remained. It would take considerable time and skill to bring them back up

to a respectable state.
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Development of the sitting room

November 2005 - barely watertight.

2O RSP
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October 2006, central two bays
of the carriage house. The
dividing wall has been taken down
and the central window
unblocked. New floor joists have
been laid in readiness for new
floorboards, yet to be sourced.
The wall into the far bay (now the
kitchen) has not yet been
breached. While ultimately
necessary to provide access, this
was the subject of much
discussion. A sense that head
cooks and bottlewashers should
also feel part of the group of
Landmarkers led to the eventual
open plan solution, the arch also
making it clear that a new
opening had been made.
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March 2007: painting the massive skirting boards in the south range.
The large openings for carriages between the brick pillars have been
blocked up in and a new flue inserted in unmistakeably modern
materials, and are waiting to be plastered.

Laying the floorboards salvaged from the London docks, autumn
2007. By now, the whole room has been plastered out.
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The sitting room area is the only part of the building where significant changes
have been made to the original layout (see floorplan detail below): the removal of
the central wall and opening up of the middle window it cut across; the breaching
of the east wall into the far (kitchen) bay and the construction of a wall to divide
the outer from the inner pile, along the line of the Earl’s original folding doors
(which, predictably, did not survive). The piers of the original openings between
the inner and outer rooms are still apparent in the inner pile. We also inserted a
flue on the north wall, to take the multi fuel cast iron stove. The coach house
portions were ceiled originally, although little remained of their lath and plaster
ceiling. Above the arch to the kitchen are two fragments of the original frieze to
Silverton Park mansion, found on site during the works. In full, the frieze depicted

the Exodus of the Israelites.

The western pair of rooms (bedroom and bath/shower room) have kept their
original configuration, entrances and fenestration. The southern room has its
original stone floor and fireplace. The eastern ones (lobby and kitchen) had been
altered somewhat during the farmhouse phase but are now returned to their

original plan.
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Fitting new sash cords is a fiddly business unless you know the system.
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The East Range - exterior

The east range in August 2007, with scaffolding up to rebuild
the northern parapets.

The east range holds the main entrance into the stable quadrangle and would
have been approached along drives from the mansion and under the viaduct. It is
a narrow range a single pile deep, with a taller and wider central portico.
Originally it would have been symmetrical but had lost its northern parapet. This
has been reinstated, although the plastering of the cornice must now wait for a
later date. Once again, the brick pilasters would no doubt have been given a
decorative coating in metallic cement had the building been completed. The
pediment above the portico was found to have been partially finished in render
before the original work stopped. The strap hung doors are reproductions of the
originals, dating back to the 1990s when the stables needed to be made secure.
The lintel is probably cast iron faced in render. The windows to the right (north)
were always partially blocked on the inside in case horses stabled in this part
kicked the glass out. The windows to the south, like all the sash windows in the
building, have been replaced to their original pattern and glazed with a glass that

reflects the slightly uneven quality of the 1840s.
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Where joinery survived, repairs were made as conservatively as possible.
Here (left) a spliced repair is underway to one of the massive doorposts.
The hinges (right) were of a scale to match.

Putting on the scratch coat for a ceiling.
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The East Range — interior

Leading directly off the carriage entrance to the north is a full width space lit by a
window in the west wall. A later inserted window in the east wall has been

reblocked. Now a bath room, this space may have been a office originally.

The section north of the entrance block is a large single space accessed from the
courtyard. Formerly used as stabling, it has rendered walls, a hard cement to
dado height with a softer plaster above. The floor was formerly cobbled. The
positions of curved iron hayracks are still apparent on the walls and scars of lost
timber stall dividers show it once had four stalls, with a hay loft above. In the
20" century, it was converted into a cowshed, the old stalls removed and a

concrete floor put in.

b L i { i
range when in farm use.

Interior of the east
In the equivalent section to the south of the carriageway there are the original
stairs with simple iron balustrade and service rooms associated with a house —
either a family home or shared accommodation for estate workers, which extends
into the entrance block on the first floor. The loo under the stairs is on the site of
an original WC. The ground floor was always divided into two rooms, each with
their original hearth, as have the bedrooms above. The whole of this area was

used as the 20"-century farmhouse.
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The southeast corner of the east range when used as a farmhouse.
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T
he North Range - exterior

The north range is a relatively narrow single pile, its north wall being a
continuation of the northern ends of the west and east ranges. Its central block is
of a scale to match the south portico but designed to be of lesser architectural
significance. Its single pile means the central block’s walls were always flush
with the courtyard walls on the inner side and, today, also on the external side,
since creeping dilapidation had led the farmer to take down the external portico
that once replicated that on the south elevation. Originally, this projected forward
from the main building line externally, as confirmed by the footings found during
works. The parapets were also taken down during the 20" century but have been
reinstated by Landmark, but funds have not so far allowed the reinstatement of

the portico.

The external face of the north range had no openings originally, as its use as
stabling made fenestration unnecessary. Instead, a regime of blind windows was
introduced for the sake of symmetry and to relieve an otherwise dull elevation.
Later crude agricultural openings are also apparent. It is noticeable that much less
brick has been used in this elevation, presumably because the absence of

openings meant sharp edges were not required.

By contrast, the inner, courtyard elevation was mostly faced with brick. Its
external appearance suggests that it has a symmetrical internal layout like the
other three sides to the courtyard but this is not in fact the case. Apart from the
door in the western corner, the original doorways all had tall glazed fanlights,
which survived and have been restored. The window openings, built to match
those on the north side, were also originally blind, even though we found the
grounds for glazing. It was standard practice in stables not to have low level
windows, since lower level glazing would have been at risk of being kicked out
by the horses, with the risk of injury for these valuable beasts. Other stable
designs by more informed architects and patrons do not set out to imply this
more domestic form of symmetrical fenestration (see for example Holkham
stables on page 11 above), another suggestion that perhaps the Earl and Knowles
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agreed the design before having a clear idea of how the internal spaces would
work. It also shows their thrall to the (by now rather out-dated) Classical

precedence given to external symmetry above internal function.

During the later agricultural phase, metal-framed Crittal windows were inserted
into the blind openings and these we have taken out. The lower section of the
courtyard walls were also rendered in cement at a late date; this we have

removed.

Above the central doorway is an original loft opening into the first floor section of
the central block, for storing hay. On either side are series of open niches,
matched by a full row in the upper part of the entablature, roosts or nesting

boxes for pigeons or doves. The triangular pediment survives on this elevation.

The courtyard face of the north range before work began.
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The North Range — interior

At first floor level there are boarded attics, presumably to store fodder. The
absence of too many partitions below allowed the ground floor space to be
divided into a series of stalls. Starting from the east end, there is a small room of
uncertain purpose, with no light or fittings but with drainage. It might have been
a farrier’s room, for examining or grooming horses. To the west of this were
three doors with fanlights to three three-stall stables. Evidence for the stall
divisions can be found in the stone pads and their depressions to take the end
posts of each stall in the original cobbled floor. At this date, it was more usual to
stable the horses in open-backed stalls than in loose boxes, even though it took
more labour to keep an eye on the horses. The horses would have been loosely
but effectively tethered by a rope fed through a brass ring, with a weight (often
made of heavy lignum vitae wood) which allowed the horse to move freely within
the stall without getting tangled in the tether. The stalls would have had open
backs, the horses’ heads pointing away from the light, and a single drainage

channel would have run along the outer corridor.

While these spaces were cleared of the stalls and most of the fittings during the
later dairy use, some of the hayracks remain, as do the vented niches for lamps
beside the doors. Originally, each group of stalls had a timber louvre fitted into
the roof above it for ventilation, as condensation on the windows from the
horses’ breath could otherwise rot the window frames and provide an unhealthy
atmosphere. On one of the doors, evidence was found for a recessed ring and
pushbutton form of latch, carefully designed so a horse would not snag itself in
passing, as it might on a Suffolk latch. Reproductions have been fitted to each of

the doors.

Horses were traditionally stabled in teams and it may seem odd that three horses
should be stalled in this way — unless the Earl favoured a troika, like that shown
on the title page. (Traditionally a Russian vehicle, a troika drove three horses
abreast and gained popularity in England and France in the 1800s because three
horses abreast were found to do the same work as two pairs. The little fellow
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sitting up behind was known as a tiger, from his traditional uniform of a striped

yellow waistcoat and was selected for his slightness and ability to sit immobile.)

It is perhaps surprising that the stables seem only to have held teams of horses,
with no indication that hunters were stabled here. For all his monumental stable

block, it seems the Earl was perhaps no great horseman himself.

The final space at the far west end of the north range is a very narrow room and,

like its pair in the other corner, is of uncertain purpose. Perhaps it was used for

storing spare carriage shafts or tools.
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The West Range — exterior

Originally, the west range offered a ‘back entrance’ into the stable and a short

cut from the main road.

Detail from the 1888 OS map showing the
Routes around the stables (not to scale).

The design of the west range is diagonally identical to that of the east range; like
the opposite southeast corner, the windows on the northwest side of the portico
were always fully open sashes, suggesting original use as another
accommodation unit rather than stabling. The lower lights of the windows on the
other, southwest corner of this range were, like those in the stable areas, bricked
up on the inside although these we have now unblocked to their full extent to
make the bedroom more pleasant (see below). The north west parapet had been
lost but is now reinstated. Like the south and east porticos, the west would also
have been intended to be finished with a full entablature. There seems only ever
to have been a foot entrance here, whatever the architect’s original intentions:

the large entrance was bricked up at an early date, with timber infill above.
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The west range before work began. The parapets on this northwest corner
have been lost, and the roof patched in with corrugated iron.
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Repairs underway to stabilise the west pediment. This was right at the beginning
of the restoration project in 2005, when new roof timbers had yet to be installed
to replace the rotten ones, already removed here.
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The West Range — Interior

On the ground floor of the northwest corner of the west range, the walls were
found to be dry-lined with lath and plaster with the suggestion of a lost dado rail,
reinforcing the impression that this area was originally used as domestic
accommodation. The floors are stone flags, and other remnants survived, of
shutters, four-panelled doors and three simple chimney pieces. Upstairs, two
decorative cast-iron chimney-pieces in the angles stacks seem of a slightly later
date than 1845, and indeed Richard Morriss, who carried out a detailed building
analysis for us, felt that the fittings in this northwest corner generally had a later
feel about them than elsewhere in the block, suggesting perhaps that they were
finished after the Earl’s death. The window frames, however, are of the original
design and it was on one of these that a carpenter Mr. Sharland helpfully
scribbled his name, ‘R. Sharland July 9, 1839°, discovered when the frame was

removed for restoration.

In the south west corner of the west range is a long narrow space, today’s triple
bedroom, that mirrors the one to the north of the main carriageway. This one,
however, seems to have been used as a tackroom rather than for stabling. It is a
tall space, and the lower two thirds of the windows were blind, probably from the
outset, since surviving matchboarded paneling also rose to this height with
plaster above. Sadly, the original paneling was too rotten to save, although it has
been reinstated, while opening the windows to their full height to allow the views
out to be appreciated and provide a more pleasant bedroom. The stone slab floor
also survived, and it had a fireplace. Around the walls, several primary large cast
iron pegs survived, on which harness would have been hung. These pegs, the
heating and the paneling suggest unequivocally that this would have been the
main tackroom, adjoining the coach house range. The iron pegs have been
reproduced and re-hung at their original spacing and its new use as a ‘dormitory’

echoes its original, somewhat communal use.
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!

Cast iron tack pegs and door furniture reproduced from
originals, waiting to be fitted beneath the fully opened tack
room windows in March 2008.
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The small adjoining room, lit from the courtyard side and now an ensuite
bathroom, was fitted out in exactly the same way, with stone floor, paneling and

more iron pegs, suggesting that it was an ancillary tack room.

The small room leading off tackroom
in the southwest corner.

The Courtyard

When in use as a stables, the courtyard would have been covered in straw to
soften the surface for the horses hooves and mop up their effluent, to be
regularly mucked out. The purpose of the central pit is uncertain. It may have
been part of the drainage system, collecting mostly liquid waste from the stabling
which was then led away to a soakaway. Drains do run in and out of the pit but
may have been later. Some 19™-century stable plans show a dung heap in the
centre of the stableyard, but this was not recommended due to the danger of
water contamination and it seems strange that the Earl should choose to have
anything so pungent at the heart of his showpiece stable yard. The well for
Silverton stables was in the north west corner of the yard.
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Another possibility is that the pit held a turntable for carriages to be turned
through 90 degrees, although we found none of the ironwork or scars that might
have been associated with such a use, and the stable yard is large enough for

such manoeuvres to have been carried out relatively easily.

The courtyard was always cobbled with small, local pebbles (as indeed was the
entire driveway originally). As the photos before restoration shows, uneven
subsidence had led to heightened threshold levels into some parts of the building
and very bad puddling in wet weather. It was a matter of some debate how to
reconcile the need to alleviate these issues and provide a suitable surface, while
also juggling the inevitable cost constraints and wishing to retain something of
the patina of the original. In the end, two local subcontractors were found who
spent weeks painstakingly correcting the levels where necessary and relaying the
small cobbles, as far as possible copying their original lines. Considerable
landscaping work was also done around the outside of the building, to correct

external ground levels.
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Conclusion

The restoration of Silverton Park Stables has taken Landmark twenty-one years to
accomplish and has probably demanded more stubborn persistence than any of
our other buildings — which is saying something. If our lead donor had not
progressively unlocked the project through his generosity, so prompting other
private and trust donors to contribute to the momentum, the stable block would
still be standing derelict. Was the effort worth it, to save this sole remnant of the
activities of an extravagant, cadet branch Earl and almost sole remnant of a
jobbing mid- Victorian architect? Certainly, there is an irony that nothing is left to
mark the mansion at Silverton Park but a few illustrations and few column inches
in journals of the day, and that what remains of the 4" Earl of Egremont’s project
at Silverton Park instead is an unfinished, utilitarian stable and coach house. The
unknown writer in the Civil Engineer & Architect’s Journal was fairly damning
when he wrote of the mansion designs’ ‘poverty of feeling and poverty of form.’
The mansion cannot be judged to have been a success, in the light of its later

disregard by potential purchasers and eventual demolition.

Yet the architect and the Earl were both very much men of their times and
milieus, and their story and the history of the site at Silverton Park deserves to
survive for future generations. The stables provide Landmark with the means to
do so. The stable block was built to be a monumental statement in the landscape,
and Time has lent it dignity. A monument it has now become, an impressive and
strangely romantic presence in the landscape, that carries its imperfections with

pride.
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